AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Ziwen Ming for the degree of Master of Science in Food Science and Technology presented on December 15, 2017.

Title: Further Optimization of Controlled Depuration for Eliminating Vibrio parahaemolyticus from Raw Oysters for Safe Consumption.

Abstract approved:

Joy Gail Waite-Cusic

Vibrio parahaemolyticus infections in the United Stated have been linked to consumption of raw shellfish, particularly oysters, with symptoms of headache, abdominal pain, nausea, diarrhea, vomiting. Depuration, as a post-harvest process, has a long history of being applied in shellfish industry to reduce sewage bacteria. In order to reduce the risks of *V. parahaemolyticus* infection associated with raw oyster consumption, FDA (2015) requires that post-harvest processes reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* and *V. vulnificus* to non-detectable levels (<30 MPN/g) and achieve a 3.52 log reduction.

Previous investigations have indicated that a refrigerated seawater depuration process at 12.5°C could significantly reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* contamination in

Pacific oysters; however, further optimization is necessary to achieve the regulatory target of $>3.52 \log MPN/g$. The aim of this study was to investigate several factors, including flow rate and feeding status, to improve the efficacy of depuration in decreasing V. parahaemolyticus in oysters. The long-term goal for this research is adoption of depuration by the shellfish industry to produce safe oysters for raw consumption. Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*; n = 35 per trial) were inoculated with a cocktail of V. parahaemolyticus (10290, 10292,10293, BE 98-2029, and 027-1c1) in freshly prepared artificial seawater (70 L). Depuration was conducted on inoculated oysters with flow rates of 15, 20, 25 and 35 L/min at 12.5°C for up to 5 days. V. parahaemolyticus contamination was determined using a three-tube most probable number (MPN) method. The efficacy of microbial reductions of V. parahaemolyticus was significantly enhanced when the flow rate increased from 15 to 35 L/min. Depuration with a lower flow rate (15 L/min) for 5 days resulted in 2.39 log (MPN/g) reduction of V. parahaemolyticus in oysters, while depuration with higher flow rates of 20 and 25 L/min reached 2.73 and 2.80 log (MPN/g) reductions, respectively. Further increase in flow rate to 35 L/min resulted in an average reduction of 3.39 log MPN/g of V. parahaemolyticus in oysters after 5 days. These results suggest that depuration efficacy can be enhanced by further increasing the flow rate of the system.

Studies of application of algae treatment in oyster depuration revealed that addition of algae mixture in artificial seawater (ASW) for depuration did not significantly impact the efficacy of depuration for reducing *V. parahaemolyticus* populations. Oysters inoculated with the *V. parahaemolyticus* cocktail were subjected to depuration with and without feeding (algae=0.036 ml/gram of oyster) for 6 days at 12.5°C with water ratio of 1:2. Oysters (n = 5) were analyzed for *V. parahaemolyticus* using a three-tube most probable number (MPN) method after 0, 1, 3, 5, and 6 days of depuration. Depuration over 6 days achieved average *V. parahaemolyticus* reductions of 2.75 log MPN/g and 3.03 log MPN/g in the fed and unfed systems, respectively. The lack of impact of feeding status on the efficacy of depuration provides the oyster industry with the flexibility to utilize fed or unfed conditions to apply in depuration process.

In these studies, only the factor of flow rate had a positive impact on reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus*. However, neither flow rate nor feeding treatments were able to achieve 3.52 MPN/g reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus*. Further optimization of depuration is necessary to achieve the regulatory target for *V. parahaemolyticus* decontamination in raw oysters. ©Copyright by Ziwen Ming December 15, 2017 All Rights Reserved Further Optimization of Controlled Depuration for Eliminating *Vibrio* parahaemolyticus from Raw Oysters for Safe Consumption

> by Ziwen Ming

A THESIS

submitted to

Oregon State University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Presented December 15, 2017 Commencement June 2018 Master of Science thesis of Ziwen Ming presented on December 15, 2017

APPROVED:

Major Professor, representing Food Science and Technology

Head of the Department of Food Science and Technology

Dean of the Graduate School

I understand that my thesis will become part of the permanent collection of Oregon State University libraries. My signature below authorizes release of my thesis to any reader upon request.

Ziwen Ming, Author

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Thanks to my family, my friends and faculty and staff of Oregon State University for supporting me to complete my Master degree. I would like to express my deeply appreciation to Dr. Waite-Cusic as my major professor and Dr. DeWitt as my co-major professor, who help me improve my academic and research skills. Thanks to Dr. Su for providing me the opportunity to study at OSU and always encouraging me with his warm smile.

I also would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Liu and Dr. Häse, for spending time to review my thesis and providing me with valuable suggestions.

Thanks to my Seafood Laboratory colleagues for their support and encouragement: Dr. Park, Dr. Kung, Sue, Craig; and to my friends: Jenny, Clara, Ning, Nut, Kaitlin, Robin, and many others. I thank them for their help and for making it feel like a family in Astoria. Finally, thanks for my parents for their understanding and for supporting me to purse graduate education.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 General Introduction1
1.1 Introduction of Shellfish 1
1.1.1 Bacterial hazards associated with shellfish/oysters2
1.2 Introduction of Vibrio parahaemolyticus
1.2.1 Distribution of V. parahaemolyticus
1.2.2 Incidence of V. parahaemolyticus Infection
1.2.3 Virulence Factors and Symptoms of V. parahaemolyticus
1.2.4 Factors affecting V. parahaemolyticus growth and survival9
1.2.5 Detection of V. parahaemolyticus11
1.3 Preventions and Controls of V. parahaemolyticus Infection
1.4 Post-harvest process 15
1.4.1 Thermal Treatment15
1.4.2 Refrigeration and freezing process16
1.4.3 Irradiation18
1.4.4 High Pressure Processing (HPP)19
1.5 Depuration19
1.5.1 Factors effecting Depuration21

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Chapter 2 Flow rate of depuration system has minimal impact on <i>Vibrio</i> parahaemolyticus decontamination in Pacific Oysters (<i>Crassostrea gigas</i>) 25
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Material and Methods 30
2.4 Vibrio parahaemolyticus culture preparation
2.4.1 Oyster inoculation with V. parahaemolyticus
2.4.2 Depuration treatment
2.4.3 Microbiological analysis
2.4.4 Statistical analysis
2.5 Results and Discussion
2.6 Acknowledgments
Chapter 3 Impact of feeding status on the efficacy of depuration for decontaminating <i>Vibrio parahaemolyticus</i> in Pacific Oysters (<i>Crassostrea gigas</i>)
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods and Materials
3.3.1 Vibrio parahaemolyticus culture preparation45

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Page
3.3.3 Depuration with algae treatment46
3.3.4 Measurement of algae consumption and oyster gaping activity47
3.3.5 Analysis of V. parahaemolyticus in oysters47
3.3.6 Statistical analysis
3.4 Results and Discussion
3.5 Acknowledgments
Chapter 4 General Conclusion
Bibliography
Appendices

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page	<u>e</u>
Figure 2.1 Survivors (log MPN/g) of <i>V. parahaemolyticus</i> in laboratory- contaminated individual oysters during depuration with flow rate of 15 L/min for up to 5 days	0
Figure 3.1 Correlation of absorbance (OD _{400 nm}) with algae cell density (cell/ml) as measured by direct microscopic count in artificial seawater ($n = 4$)	7
Figure 3.2 Example of changes in algal cell density (cells/ml) due to oyster Seeding throughout depuration period (6 days at 12.5°C)	8
Figure 3.3 Oyster valve openness (% of time) throughout depuration in systems were oysters were fed algae or remained unfed	9
Figure 3.4 Decrease in <i>Vibrio parahaemolyticus</i> contamination (log MPN/g) in Pacific oysters (<i>Crassostrea gigas</i>) during depuration using flow rate of 25L/min at 12.5°C with and without algal feeding	0

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>

Page

Table 2.1 Reduction of V. parahaemolyticus (log MPN/g) after 5 days of	
depuration and rate of reduction (log MPN/g/day) of V. parahaemolyticus in	
oysters using various depuration flow rates at 12.5°C	39

Chapter 1 General Introduction

1.1 Introduction of Shellfish

In recent years, world production and consumption of shellfish (oyster, mussel, clam, and scallop) has grew from a combined total of wild catch and aquaculture of approximately 13 million tons in 2009 to 16 million tons in 2015 (FAO, 2017). In 2015, shellfish farming accounted for nearly 21% of the total fish farming production for food consumption throughout the world (FAO, 2015). The U.S. oyster industry yielded 14 thousand tons of oysters which valued at over \$213.8 million while the 4.8 million ton of total fish production valued \$5.2 billion in 2015 (Pritzker et al., 2016). The world production of oyster in 2015 reached around 5.5 million tons which valued \$4.2 billion (FAO, 2017). The top producing species is Eastern oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) from the Gulf of Mexico which accounts for 78% of the national total. Pacific oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) is the second major oyster species (21.5%) harvested in the U.S (Banks et al., 2007).

Shellfish, including oysters, are filter-feeders which affect water quality by ingesting the edible particles and expelling particles with mucus, then depositing this as pseudofeces onto the sediment surface (Zu Ermgassen et al., 2013). Biological characteristics of oyster feeding and filtration is well studied, and filtration rate is known to be influenced by environmental factors such as

temperature, flow rate, salinity, and particle size, and differs between oyster species. The Eastern oyster (Crassostrea virginica) is capable of filtering particles $>5 \,\mu\text{m}$ in size with high efficiency (6.79 L/h) (Riisgård, 1988). Temperature is the most critical factor affecting the pumping rate. The maximum average pumping rate of oysters could be reached as high as 13 L/h at temperature of 28-30°C, while the lower temperature at 12-14°C produced the pumping rate of 5.4 L/h with average level of 3.9 L/h (Loosanoff, 1958). This physiology of oysters enables them to help with water clarity, but it can also lead to the accumulation of contaminants in their tissues. Ventilation, defined as the water flow rate over gills, leads to accumulation of bacteria on gills. Filtration (volume of water cleared per unit time) completed by sorting particles as food and sending them to the digestive tract contributes to accumulation of contaminants in the digestive tract of the oysters (Kennedy et al., 1996). It has been shown that around 70% of total V. vulnificus found in oyster meat is present in the gut, with less than 10% found in mantle and gills after 3 days of depuration at ambient temperature (Tamplin & Capers, 1992).

1.1.1 Bacterial hazards associated with shellfish/oysters

Naturally occurring bacteria including pathogenic and non-pathogenic *Vibrio* species, and bacteria from sewage contaminated environment including *Salmonella spp.*, *Shigella spp.* and *Escherichia coli* are two broad groups of bacteria which will

mainly contaminate shellfish (FDA, 2015; Reilly & Käferstein, 1997). It was found that shellfish in U.S., particularly oysters, had a 1.2% prevalence of *Salmonella* (Heinitz et al., 2000). Fecal coliforms have been used as an indicator of other bacterial pathogens; however, research has demonstrated that *Salmonella* was present in oysters that did not contain high levels of fecal coliforms (Hood et al., 1983). According to FDA's requirement, harvesting water need to be tested per year for fecal coliforms. If fecal coliform levels exceed 230 MPN/g of oyster or 230 MPN/ml of water, then oyster systems are closed to harvesting (Andrews, 1995; FDA, 2015).

1.2 Introduction of Vibrio parahaemolyticus

1.2.1 Distribution of V. parahaemolyticus

The seasonal and geographical distributions of *V. parahaemolyticus* relate *V. parahaemolyticus* in both seawater and shellfish to temperature (DePaola et al., 1990). Isolation of *V. parahaemolyticus* from the environment has been shown to be related to water temperature, geographical, fecal pollution, season (rainy or dry) and salinity (DePaola et al., 2003; Molitoris et al., 1985). It is reported that *V.parahaemolyticus* was able to survive at temperature below 15°C in seawater (McLaughlin et al., 2005). Kaneko and Colwell (1973) reported that 10°C is a minimum temperature for growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* in the natural

environment. According to their research, it is uncommon to isolate V. parahaemolyticus during winter months in the Rhode River area of Chesapeake Bay, and a low rate of occurrence of V. parahaemolyticus infection was observed in winter months. Meanwhile, the population of V. parahaemolyticus increased to $10^4 \text{ CFU}/100 \text{ ml}$ from $10^2 \text{ CFU}/100 \text{ ml}$ when water temperature rose to 30°C in summer from 6°C in mid-winter (Kaneko & Colwell, 1973). In Indonesia, V. parahaemolyticus strains were isolated from seawater at temperatures ranging between 29°C and 32°C throughout the year (Molitoris et al., 1985). A study shows that between November 2002 and October 2003, there was a positive relationship observed between populations of V. parahaemolyticus in seawater and water temperature on the Oregon coast, and the highest populations (1100 MPN/g) of V. parahaemolyticus in water was detected in the summer months (Duan & Su, 2005). From November 2004 to October 2005, Parveen et al. (2008) found a significant positive association between population of V. parahaemolyticus and water temperature in Chesapeake Bay and water temperature is a major factor influencing the abundance of V. parahaemolyticus in seawater in temperate climate.

The population of *V. parahaemolyticus* in shellfish is also related to water temperature and is usually higher at warmer months. It has been reported that 29% of oysters harvested from the Pacific Northwest yielded *V. parahaemolyticus* only during the summer months when water temperatures ranged from 15°C to 22°C (Kelly & Stroh, 1988). Shellfish from the Gulf Coast typically had higher densities

of V. parahaemolyticus than did shellfish harvested from the North Atlantic or mid-Atlantic coast (Cook et al., 2002a). The mean density of V. parahaemolyticus in the Gulf Coast water at 22°C is around 1.1×10^4 CFU/100 ml, while the populations of V. parahaemolyticus in the Atlantic at 15°C and in the Pacific at 17°C are 3×10^3 CFU/100 ml and 2.1×10^3 CFU/100 ml, respectively (DePaola et al., 1990). Parveen et al. (2008) Indicated that about 63% of the oyster samples from Chesapeake Bay containing detectable levels (10)CFU/g) of V. *parahaemolyticus* were collected at water temperature of $> 14^{\circ}$ C from April 2005 to October 2005.

The relationship between the population of *V. parahaemolyticus* and water salinity is unknown. Densities of *V. parahaemolyticus* were found to be positively correlated with water temperature, but not with water salinity or the overall bacterial population in seawater. Comparing higher water salinities from June to November with lower water salinities from December to May in Oregon Coast, Duan and Su found no correlation between water salinity and *V. parahaemolyticus* density (Duan & Su, 2005). However, higher *V. parahaemolyticus* densities were found at lower seawater salinity in the Smith Point and East Bay area (DePaola et al., 2000). In the Rias of Galicia, Spain, 61 positive samples of seawater (18%) had relatively high level populations of *V. parahaemolyticus* (1.2×10^3 MPN/100 g) and

were primarily detected during periods of lower salinity in autumn months (Martinez-Urtaza et al., 2008).

1.2.2 Incidence of V. parahaemolyticus Infection

V. parahaemolyticus was firstly reported as causing gastrointestinal episodes in Japan following the consumption of shirasu (semi-dried salted sardine) in 1950, which caused 272 cases with 20 deaths (Fujino et al., 1953). In the following years, V. parahaemolyticus becomes one of the most significant food-borne pathogens in Asia, causing approximately half of the food poisoning outbreaks in Taiwan, Japan, and Southeast Asian countries (Joseph et al., 1982). In Vietnam, 548 cases of V. parahaemolyticus infection were reported between 1997 and 1999 (Tuyet et al., 2002). 2003 2008. 322 From to gastroenteritis outbreaks due to V. parahaemolyticus across 12 provinces in China with 9041 illnesses and 3948 hospitalizations were reported with 28% involving aquatic products (Wu et al., 2014). Strains of the O3:K6 serovar appeared in Calcutta, India, accounting for 50 to 80% of the V. parahaemolyticus strains isolated during the high-incidence period (February to August) in 1996 (Okuda et al., 1997). The incidence of diarrhea due to O3:K6 strains remains high: 63% of the V. parahaemolyticus strains isolated from patients in Calcutta between September 1996 and April 1997 belonged to the O3:K6 serovar and possessed the *tdh* gene alone.

V. parahaemolyticus was first identified as the etiological agent of gastroenteritis in U.S. after three outbreaks of 425 cases in Maryland in 1971 (Molenda et al., 1972). During a 3-month period in the late summer and fall of 1981, six cases of gastroenteritis and one wound infection due to V. parahaemolyticus were reported to public health agencies in Washington and Oregon. All the gastroenteritis illnesses were associated with eating raw oysters (Nolan et al., 1984). In summer of 1997, the larger outbreak of culture-confirmed V. parahaemolyticus infections happened in North America, involving 209 illnesses who were associated with eating raw oysters harvested from California, Oregon, and Washington in the United States and from British Columbia (BC) in Canada (CDC, 1998). During May 20--July 31, 2006, health departments of New York City, New York state, Oregon, and Washington reported an outbreak with a total of 177 cases of V. parahaemolyticus infection in which 122 cases have been associated with 17 seafood clusters (CDC, 2006). Most infections are associated with ingestion of raw or undercooked shellfish harvested from both the Gulf of Mexico and the Pacific Ocean (Cook et al., 2002b). There was a relative large outbreak in the Pacific Northwest in the summer of 1998, affecting 209 people, including one death (CDC, 1998). The largest outbreak of V. parahaemolyticus (O3: K6 serotype) infection was reported in the United States in 1998, indicating 416 persons in 13 states having gastroenteritis after eating oysters harvested from Galveston Bay, Texas (N. A. Daniels, 2000). In 2013, serotypes O4: K12 and O4:

KUT strains traced from shellfish consumed by ill persons in U.S. Atlantic Coast caused illness in 104 persons from 13 states during May to September (Newton et al., 2014).

1.2.3 Virulence Factors and Symptoms of V. parahaemolyticus

It is believed that most strains of V. parahaemolyticus isolated from the environment or seafood are not pathogenic (Nishibuchi & Kaper, 1995). Clinical strains of V. parahaemolyticus, carrying the tdh gene, have ability to produce a thermostable direct hemolysin (TDH), which can lyse red blood cells on Wagatsuma blood agar plates (Joseph et al., 1982; Nishibuchi & Kaper, 1995). The hemolytic activity of TDH, called the Kanagawa phenomenon (KP), has been reported to be mostly found positive in patients with gastroenteritis but rarely KPpositive observed in environmental isolates (Joseph et al., 1982). However, in 1985, outbreak of gastroenteritis in Republic of Maldives KPisolated *V.parahaemolyticus* strains (Honda et al., 1988). This isolate cannot produce TDH but carry the trh gene which encodes TDH-related hemolysin. In Japan, it was reported that in 214 clinical strains of V. parahaemolyticus, 112 strains (52.3%) contained the *tdh* gene, 52 strains (24.3%) had the *trh* gene only, and 24 strains (11.2%) carried both the tdh and the trh gene (Shirai et al., 1990). The pathogenicity of V. parahaemolyticus appears to be associated with the presence of both tdh and trh genes (Su & Liu, 2007).

Symptoms of *V. parahaemolyticus* infection usually occur within 24 hours or ranging from 4 to 96 hours, after ingesting the bacteria. Typical symptoms of *V. parahaemolyticus* include diarrhea, nausea, vomiting, headache, fever, chills and abdominal pain (CDC, 2013). Most cases of infection usually include acute self-limiting diarrhea. Wound infection and septicemia caused by exposure to *V. parahaemolyticus* have also been reported (Qadri et al., 2003). The mortality rate with approximately 1–4% even existed in patients who develop septicemia (Butt et al., 2004). An infectious dose of *V. parahaemolyticus* is reported to be 10^5 CFU/g or more (Butt et al., 2004). Relatively low probability of illness (<0.001%) was observed in consumption of 50 cells/gram oysters. Consumption of 5×10^5 cells/gram oysters of *V. parahaemolyticus* raises the probability of illness to around 50% (FDA, 2005).

1.2.4 Factors affecting V. parahaemolyticus growth and survival

Growth and survival of *V. parahaemolyticus* are mainly influenced by several factors: temperature, salinity, water activity, and pH. Given the rapid growth rate of this organism, the optimum temperatures for growth and survivals of *V. parahaemolyticus* are between 35°C to 37°C (Beuchat, 1975). Maximum temperatures for growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* range from 42°C to 44°C. Lowest temperatures reported are highly dependent on the growth substrate and habitat, usually ranging from 3°C to 13°C (Lee, 1973). It is not uncommon to isolate *V.*

parahaemolyticus from oysters and marine sediment samples below 10°C. However, *V. parahaemolyticus* are more commonly isolated from seawater when the water temperature is above 13°C (Molenda et al., 1972).

The halophilism is one of important characteristics of this organism, early recognized by the Japanese investigators, and thus a new agent of food poisoning organism was established (T. Fujino, 1964). *V. parahaemolyticus* requires sodium chloride for growth in substrates containing as little as 0.5% at normal growing temperature (Beuchat, 1975). Lee reported that the maximum sodium chloride concentration tolerated by *V. parahaemolyticus* is 8% (Lee, 1973). On the other hand, the tolerance of *V. parahaemolyticus* to sodium chloride concentrations is also related to osmotic and ionic sensitivity. Once the organism is exposed in distill water, it is easily inactivated with 90% death within 0.9 to 4.4 min (Lee, 1972).

V. parahaemolyticus always grows well under alkaline pH. The recommended pH for the culture media is from 7.4 to 8.6 (Lee, 1973). In the study of Kodama, foods with pH below 5.8 do not support growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* and maximum growth was demonstrated in uncooked octopus and marinated egg with respective pH values at 7.7 and 8.5 (Kodama, 1967).

The different factors of temperature, salt concentration and pH also have cross impact on growth and survival of *V. parahaemolyticus*. Beuchat (1973) tested six strains of *V. parahaemolyticus* at different temperature, salt concentrations in media of different pH and reported an increasing tendency of growth at lower pH as the incubation temperature was increased. Growth at 5°C and 9°C was only shown at an alkaline pH. In his study, two strains, 107914 and 8700, had the highest tolerance to low pH (4.8) and grew at 30°C with 3% NaCl. Growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* in different NaCl concentrations can greatly affect its response to pH and temperature stresses (Beuchat, 1973). Whitaker et al. investigated their ability to grow at different salt concentrations under different other environmental stresses like temperature and pH fluctuations. When the NaCl concentration of the medium was reduced to 0.5% NaCl, *V. parahaemolyticus* failed to grow at pH 5 but grew better with 3% NaCl. They also found that *V. parahaemolyticus* grown in 3% NaCl have higher tolerance to temperature stress (42°C) than cells grown in 1% NaCl (Whitaker et al., 2010).

1.2.5 Detection of V. parahaemolyticus

Selective enrichment broth and agar media are developed to detect and isolate *V. parahaemolyticus* in foods. Selective enrichment of alkaline peptone water (APW), salt polymyxin broth (SPB) and plating of the enrichment culture onto thiosulfate citrate bile salt sucrose (TCBS) agar have been widely used for selective isolation of *V. parahaemolyticus* from foods (Hara-Kudo et al., 2001). *Vibrio* species growth requires the presence of relatively high levels of bile salts, thus media used for testing the biochemical reactions of *V. parahaemolyticus* should contain 2% or 3% NaCl. Thiosulfate citrate bile salt sucrose (TCBS) agar is a

selective medium commonly used for isolating *V. cholerae, V. parahaemolyticus*, and other *Vibrio* species from seafood while inhibiting most non-vibrios (Kaysner & DePaola, 2004). Inhibition of Gram-positive bacteria is achieved by the incorporation of oxgall. Differentiation within *Vibrio* species is based on sucrose fermentation. *Vibrio cholerae* has the ability to ferment sucrose and produce acid to form yellow colonies, while *V. parahaemolyicus* and most *V. vulnificus* don't ferment sucrose and produce green colonies (Kobayashi et al., 1963). However, direct plating is efficient only when the concentrations of targeted bacteria are high in samples because the result will be affected if other bacteria exist at high concentration.

Most probable number (MPN) is a serial dilution test measuring the concentration of a target microbe in a sample with an estimate (Blodgett, 2010). Most common method for detection of *V. parahaemolyticus* is MPN method with selective enrichment of alkaline peptone water (APW) and plating of the enrichment culture onto TCBS agar.

In recent years, sensitive, rapid and accurate polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays and real-time PCR have been developed for identification of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* by targeting one or more of the genes in different samples. A specific *toxR*-targeted PCR assay was shown to be a rapid and reliable method for *V*. *parahaemolyticus* identification(Kim et al., 1999). The real-time PCR were applied for detection of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* using a fluorescently labeled TaqMan

probe targeting a single locus (*tdh*) and dual loci in a multiplexed format (*tdh* and *toxR*) for pathogenic strains (Blackstone et al., 2003; Iijima et al., 2004). A conventional multiplexed PCR assay targeting *tlh* gene for total, and both *tdh* and *trh* genes of *V. parahaemolyticus* is necessary for comprehensive detection of this pathogen in shellfish (Bej et al., 1999; Ward & Bej, 2006).

In addition to traditional culture methods and PCR method, immunological techniques like enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) and immunochromatography have also been developed for simple and rapid analysis of *V. parahaemolyticus* (Su, 2012).

1.3 Preventions and Controls of V. parahaemolyticus Infection

It is already known that *V. parahaemolyticus* can reproduce rapidly to an infectious dose in seafood if temperature abused between harvest and consumption. Although it can be destroyed by adequate cooking, existence of V. *parahaemolyticus* in shellfish, especially for raw consumption, is still a safety issue (Phuvsate & Su, 2012). FDA established a guidance limit of 10,000 viable cells per gram for *V. parahaemolyticus* in ready-to-eat shellfish (FDA, 2011). Cook et al. studied that the population of *V. parahaemolyticus* or *V. vulnificus* of 10⁵ cells/gram was readily reached in market oysters harvested from the Gulf Coast during summer months. A WHO/FAO risk assessment indicated that concentration below 30 cells/gram of *Vibrio* species is a negligible health risk. In order to ensure a post-

harvest process to be used throughout the year, the ISSC adopted a protocol to assure that the process should be able to reduce levels of *Vibrio* species from an initial MPN level of 100,000/gram to <30/gram (equivalent to a 3.52 Log reduction) (FDA, 2015).

To minimize the risk of growth of Vibrio spp., water quality of harvest area, post-harvest temperature, transportation and storage were regulated under National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP). NSSP established temperature-time control to limit maximum hours from exposure after harvest to temperature control process (means of ice, mechanical refrigeration or other approved means capable of cooling shellstock to 50° F or less) according to local average monthly maximum air temperature (FDA, 2015). Shellfish harvested for raw consumption need to be cooled down to 10° C (50°F) within 12, 18, 24, and 36 h after harvest when the average monthly maximum air temperature is $\geq 27 \, ^{\circ}\text{C}$ (81 $^{\circ}\text{F}$), between 15 and 27 °C (60–80 °F), between 10 and 15 °C (50–60 °F), and <10 °C (50 °F), respectively (FDA, 2015). In addition to the above, control for V. parahaemolyticus in shellfish is also based on growing area. A post-harvest process which can eliminate V. parahaemolyticus to non-detectable level is needed if the growing area has an average monthly daytime water temperature that exceeds 60°F for waters bordering the Pacific Ocean or exceeds 81°F for waters bordering the Gulf of Mexico and the Atlantic Ocean (New Jersey and south) in harvesting time(FDA, 2015).

Tagging the oysters helps authorities to track down shellfish in the marketplace back to the distribution and to the harvester when an outbreak occurs. All raw or post-processed shellfish are required to have a tag bearing information, including the name of the location where the raw shellfish was harvested, harvest date, shucking date and sell-by-day.

1.4 Post-harvest process

Post-harvest processes(PHP) for shellfish are used to reduce naturally occurring pathogens in marine environments. They are not intended to remediate or remove pathogens associated with sewage pollution. FDA requires a valid post-harvest process must achieve a 3.52 log MPN/g reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* and *V. vulnificus* in shellfish and to non-detectable levels (<30MPN/g) (FDA, 2015). Post-harvest processes including thermal treatment, quick frozen (IQF), high hydrostatic pressure (HHP), irradiation, and depuration may be valid options to eliminate *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters.

1.4.1 Thermal Treatment

V. parahaemolyticus is sensitive to heat treatment. A survey from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration indicated that 90% of collected oysters subjected to mild heat post-harvest processing from June through October 2004 had 0.04 MPN/g of *V. parahaemolyticus* survivors, which is 750-fold lower than specified amount for non-detectable levels (30 MPN/g) (DePaola et al., 2009). The use of low temperature pasteurization for raw shell-stock oysters at 50°C was very effective in reducing the pathogens *V. vulnifcus* and *V. parahaemolyticus* from 10⁵ MPN/g to non-detectable levels in 10 min (Andrews et al., 2000). *V. parahaemolyticus* were found to be more heat resistant than the other *Vibrio* species and it needed heat treatment at 55°C for 9 min for 5-log reduction (Johnston & Brown, 2002). The author also suggested that higher temperature of pasteurization at 70°C for 2 min was effective against all *Vibrio* spp. Liu et al. (2010) indicated that heating process in hot water at 80 °C or higher for 1 min is able to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in the clams to non-detectable levels.

1.4.2 Refrigeration and freezing process

Vibrio spp. are sensitive to low temperatures and quality and safety of seafood are largely dependent on the temperature control (Baross & Liston, 1970). Storage at refrigeration temperatures below 5° C is able to inhibit growth of *Vibrio* spp. (Natarajan al., 1980). Gooch al. (2002)studied V. et et that parahaemolyticus increased rapidly by 2.9 log CFU/g in live oysters held at 26°C within 24 h, while a decrease of 0.8 log CFU/g was observed after approximately 14 days of refrigeration (3° C). In research of Phuvasate (2012), there was a similar small reduction (<0.8 log MPN/g) of V. parahaemolyticusin in oysters during four days of storage in ice. Moreover, keeping clams stored at 5°C and 0°C for 10 days resulted in higher in reductions of *V. parahaemolyticus* (1.98 and 2.32 log MPN/g, respectively) (Liu et al., 2010). Shen et al. (2009) also reported that refrigerated storage at 5°C and 0°C can reduce populations of *V. parahaemolyticus* in shell stock by 1.42 and 2.11 log MPN/g, respectively only within four days. However, an earlier study determined that *V. parahaemolyticus* can survive at 4°C for at least 3 weeks with no apparent decrease in numbers (Johnson et al., 1973).

In frozen storage, *V. parahaemolyticus* was effectively inactivated in shell stock and shucked oysters by reaching >3.52 MPN/g after 75 days of storage at -30 °C (Shen et al., 2009). Similarly, Liu demonstrated that frozen storage of clam at -18°C for 15 days or at -30°C for 30 days can reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* from 4.05 log MPN/g to non-detectable levels. Flash freezing followed by frozen storage at -10, -20, and -30°C decreased the populations of *V. parahaemolyticus* in the halfshell oysters by 2.45, 1.71, and 1.45 log MPN/g after 1 month of storage respectively, and storing oysters at -10° C was more effective in inactivating *V. parahaemolyticus* in fish fillet, picked crabmeat and oysters declined more rapidly at -15°C after one month frozen storage than at -30° C (Johnson & Liston, 1973). *Vibrio* spp. tend to survive better in frozen products stored at lower freezing temperatures because small bacterial cells form at lower temperatures are less damaged by ice crystals formed in frozen storage (Jay et al., 2005).

17

1.4.3 Irradiation

Irradiation including gamma irradiation, electron beam and X rays have been shown to be effective for controlling pathogens in seafood. Gamma rays are effective at reducing *Vibrio* spp. in artificially contaminated oysters with a dose of 1.2 kGy able to reduce *Vibrio* spp. as high as 10⁷ CFU/g (Despaigne et al., 2001).

A dose of 1.0 kGy gamma radiation was sufficient to produce a 6-log₁₀ reduction in the level of V. parahaemolyticus. The highest irradiation dose did not kill the oysters nor affect their sensory attributes (Jakabi et al., 2003). To take advantage of physical property that the X-ray irradiator does not have a radioactive source (Anderson et al., 1989), X-irradiation is an alternative to gamma rays and has been used in food industry. In 2009, X-ray was first reported to describe inactivation of inoculated V. parahaemolyticus in oysters by X-ray (Mahmoud & Burrage, 2009). They found that X-ray (1-5 kGy) reduced the population of V. parahaemolyticus and inherent microflora in both half and whole shell oysters to non-detectable limit. *Vibrio* spp. is more sensitive to X-ray in pure culture than in whole oysters and a higher dose of X-ray is required to eliminate V. *parahaemolyticus* to non-detectable level in whole oysters (Mahmoud & Burrage, 2009). Mahmoud (2009) also found that V. vunificus requires lower dose of X-ray than V. parahaemolyticus to be reduced to non-detectable level. In a similar study, Andrews et al. (2003) reported that V. vunificus was more sensitive than V. *parahaemolyticus* to gamma irradiation.

18

1.4.4 High Pressure Processing (HPP)

High pressure processing (HPP) has been increasingly applied in industries as a processing method of reducing microorganism in oysters. *Vibrio* spp. are very sensitive to pressure compared than other bacteria. High pressure processing (200 to 350MPa; 5-15min; 25 °C) inactivated all strains of pathogenic Vibrio species in artificial seawater to non-detectable level (Berlin et al., 1999). In live oysters, Kural et al. (2008) reported that a 5-log reduction of V. parahaemolyticus can be achieved through \geq 350 MP pressure treatment for 2 min at 1-35°C and \geq 300 MPa for 2 min at 40°C. Cook (2003) compared the sensitivity of Vibrio species and found that V. vulnficus was most sensitive to HHP treatment and V. cholerae was most resistant to treatment. In their results, 250 MPa for 2 min achieved a >5 log reduction of naturally occurring V. vulnficus in oysters, while a 5-log reduction of V. parahaemolyticus serotype O3:K6 in oysters required a pressure of 300 MPa for 3 min. Similar research indicated that a HPP process of 293 MPa for 2 min at groundwater temperature (8 \pm 1 °C) can produce greater than 3.52 log reductions of V. parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters and oysters at this process maintained shelf life for 6-8 days stored at 5°C or 16–18 days stored in ice (Ma & Su, 2011).

1.5 Depuration

Depuration is a controlled process of holding oysters in a recirculating, sterilized seawater system and allowing them release contaminants from digestive tract in clean seawater (Blogoslawski & Stewart, 1983). Depurated shellfish often command a premium price in the marketplace. Less gritty products due to purged sand, along with microbial and chemical contaminants, from the shellfish during the depuration lead to higher palatability to consumers (Richards, 1988). Depuration is based on the appropriate physiological conditions to ensure pumping activity of shellfish and effective depuration for contaminant removal occurs within a narrow range of conditions (Lee et al., 2008). *Salmonella, Escherichia coli,* and *Pseudomonas* spp. have been shown to be easily reduced in oysters depurated at ambient temperature, while reduction of *Vibrio* spp. requires longer periods of time (Croci et al., 2002; Son & Fleet, 1980; Vasconcelos & Lee, 1972). Kelly and Dinuzzo (1985) reported that it took 16 days to decrease *V. vulnificus* in artificial contaminated oysters to non-detectable level.

Several studies have been conducted to investigate optimal conditions on the efficacy of depuration in reducing *Vibrio* spp. levels in oysters. Four critical factors (water temperature, salinity, dissolved oxygen, and turbidity and suspended solids) affecting the physiological activity, pumping rate and behavioral responses of shell stock will directly influence the efficacy of depuration (FDA, 2015).

1.5.1 Factors effecting Depuration

1.5.1.1 Temperature

Water temperature is the most critical factor affecting efficacy of depuration because physiological activity of oysters and growth and survival of *V. parahaemolyticus* largely depend on temperature (Beuchat, 1975; FDA, 2015). Temperature is the most important factor associated with pumping rate of oyster (Loosanoff, 1958). The maximum average pumping rate of oysters could be reached as high as 13 L/h at temperature of 28-30°C (Loosanoff, 1958). It has been shown that viruses are removed much more slowly during depuration in Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) than *E. coli*. Depuration at temperatures from 18°C to 21°C, resulted in more rapid efficiency of removing viruses from the shellfish, but it still took 5–7 days to achieve non-detectable levels at such temperatures (Lee et al., 2008).

A study on the elimination of *Vibrio* spp. and *E. coli* in a recirculating depuration system concluded that *E. coli* was rapidly eliminated at 8, 15 and 25°C, but the optimal temperature for reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* was 15°C (Greenberg et al., 1982). Chae et al. (2009) reported that the survival of *V. parahaemolyticus* and *V. vulnificus* in American oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) in artificial seawater during depuration at 15°C were reduced by 2.10 and 2.90 log MPN/g, respectively in two days, while a 1.10 log MPN/g reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* was reached by depuration at 10 or 22°C. Depuration at reduced

temperatures (7-15°C, 5 days) has been shown to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters by $>3.0 \log MPN/g$ (Phuvasate et al., 2012).

1.5.1.2 Salinity

Salinity is also an important factor on survival of shellfish and efficacy of depuration. The minimum salt concentration for the effective purification of Crassostrea gigas and Crassostrea angulate has been reported as 20.5 ppt (parts per thousand). The oysters suffered stress so that the self-purification was not effective at water salinities of 15 to 20 ppt, while a higher salinities of 32 to 47 ppt achieved rapidly purification (Rowse & Fleet, 1984). Reduction of salinity to 50 or 60% of the levels from which the shellfish were harvested prevented the depuration process (Liu et al., 1967). A previous study reported that optimal salinities for removing E. coli in depuration from hard clams were from 22 to 31 ppt (Heffernan & Cabelli, 1970). Presnell et al. (1969) investigated the salinity ranges for depuration efficiency of purging fecal coliforms in Eastern oysters and found that increasing salinities (24.8-25.5 ppt) of depurated seawater efficiently increases coliform reductions (99.8%). Similarly, a recent study indicated that depuration with a salinity of 10 ppt for 5 days resulted in $\sim 2 \log_{10} \text{MPN/g}$ reductions of V. parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters, while a higher salinity (20-30 ppt) produce >3.0 log₁₀ MPN/g reduction (Phuvasate & Su, 2013). In more recent study, high salinity (29-33ppt) in relaying process or recirculating aquaculture system help

to enhance the efficacy in reducing *V. vulnificus*, with reduction of 2 to 5 logs after 21 to 28 days, respectively (Parveen et al., 2017).

1.5.1.3 Flow rate

Flow rates also affected shellfish depuration. FDA requires a minimum flow rate of 107 liters per minute per cubic meter of shellfish for depuration system to maintain adequate oxygen levels (FDA, 2015). Heffernan and Cabelli (1970) reported that a flow rate of 13 ml/min/hard clam provided optimal depuration of *E. coli* and when the flow rate below 3 ml/min/clam, clams stopped pumping. The flow rates from 0.5-5.0 L/oyster/h can achieve >98% reduction of total and fecal coliforms at ambient temperature (Presnell et al., 1969). Lewis et al. (2010) demonstrated that increasing the flow rate (68 L/min) of the depuration system increased reductions (up to 4.56 Log CFU/g) of *V. vulnificus* in Eastern oysters, while depuration at lower flow rate of 11 L/min that even caused little increase in *V. vulnificus* population $(1.4 \times 10^3 - 2.4 \times 10^3 \text{CFU/g})$.

1.5.1.4 Other factors

The pH value of the marine environment is around pH 8.0. Changes in pH values may affect the pumping activity of oysters. Loosanoff and Tommers (1947) found that oysters could pump normally at pH 7.75, but the pumping rate dropped when pH decreased to 6.5. The oyster pumping rate declined to 10% of the normal

rate if pH was as low as 4.14. Turbidity and total suspended particles have a negative influence on oysters pumping ability and reduce the efficacy of ultraviolet light used to sterilize seawater in a depuration system (Richards, 1988). In addition, dissolved oxygen in seawater which supported the biological activity of oyster can also affect depuration.

1.6 Objective

Most post-harvest processes, including heating, low-temperature pasteurization, freezing and frozen storage, high pressure processing, and irradiation have been

investigated for reducing populations of *V. parahaemolyticus* in contaminated oysters. These processes have limitation for industry due to some negative effects like high costs or affecting quality of oysters. An economical and effective post-harvest process for reducing *V. parahaemolyticus* populations in live oysters to a safe level for raw consumption is needed.

Previous studies have found that depuration with artificial seawater at 12.5 °C for 5 days reduced *V. parahaemolyticus* populations in the Pacific oysters by > 3.0 log MPN/g. This study was conducted to investigate the different flow rates (15, 20, 25 and 35L/min) of depuration system on purging *V. parahaemolyticus* for potential application and if feeding treatment in depuration is able to increase the efficacy of depuration in decreasing *V. parahaemolytics*
Chapter 2 Flow rate of depuration system has minimal impact on *Vibrio* parahaemolyticus decontamination in Pacific Oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*)

Ziwen Ming, Yi-Cheng Su, Christina M. DeWitt, and Joy Waite-Cusic

(Submitted to Journal of Food Safety, November 2017)

2.1 Abstract

Vibrio parahaemolyticus infections in the United Stated have been linked to consumption of raw oysters. Depuration has the potential to reduce contamination in live oysters after harvest. This study investigated the impact of depuration flow rate to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in raw oysters. Pacific oysters (n = 35 per trial) were inoculated with a cocktail of *V. parahaemolyticus* (10290, 10292,10293, BE 98-2029, and 027-1c1) in freshly prepared artificial seawater (70 L). The inoculated oysters were depurated with flow rates of 15, 20, 25 and 35 L/min at 12.5°C for up to 5 days and *V. parahaemolyticus* contamination was determined using a three-tube most probable number (MPN) method. *V. parahaemolyticus* reductions were as flow rate moderately increased from 15 L/min (2.39 log MPN/g reduction in 5 days) to 35 L/min (3.39 log MPN/g reduction). These results suggest that depuration efficacy can be enhanced by increasing depuration flow rate to 35 L/min.

Practical Applications

Vibrio parahaemolyticus can contaminate raw shellfish, including oysters, during their production and lead to outbreaks of foodborne illness. Depuration, a post-harvest process, may be used by the shellfish industry to reduce the persistence of *V. parahaemolyticus*. Previous studies have demonstrated that the depuration process can reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters; however, further optimization of the process is necessary to achieve FDA's targeted reduction goal (>3.52 log MPN/g). This study evaluated the impact of depuration flow rate on the reduction

of *V. parahaemolyticus* in Pacific oysters. Increasing flow rates (15 L/min to 35 L/min) during depuration enhanced the clearance of *V. parahaemolyticus* in these oysters; however, these conditions were unable to consistently achieve the target of >3.52 log MPN/g reduction. This study provides a reference for the industry on the variability of *V. parahaemolyticus* in individual oysters and demonstrates that practical modifications (i.e., flow rate) can be implemented in depuration systems to maximize bacterial clearance.

2.2 Introduction

Vibrio parahaemolyticus is frequently isolated from raw seafood, particularly oysters, and is the species most frequently associated with foodborne *Vibrio*-associated gastroenteritis in the U.S. (Bubb, 1975; DePaola et al., 1990). Symptoms of *V. parahaemolyticus* infection (headache, abdominal pain, nausea, diarrhea, vomiting) usually occur within 24 hours of consumption, but symptom onset may range from 4 to 96 hours (CDC, 2013). Most *V. parahaemolyticus* infections in U.S are associated with shellfish harvested from either the Gulf of Mexico or the Pacific Ocean (Cook et al., 2002b). The largest outbreak of *V. parahaemolyticus* in the U.S. occurred in 1998 with 416 persons in 13 states suffering gastroenteritis after eating oysters harvested from Galveston Bay, Texas (Daniels et al., 2000). A 2013 *V. parahaemolyticus* outbreak involving 104 individuals along the U.S. Atlantic Coast was traced to shellfish consumption (Newton et al., 2014).

Previous research has demonstrated the ability of *V. parahaemolyticus* to grow (up to 3 Log CFU/g increase in 24 h) in oysters during warm months (Gooch et al., 2001). To reduce the likelihood of infections of *Vibrio* spp. associated with raw shellfish consumption, the U.S. National Shellfish Sanitation Program (NSSP) limits the maximum time from harvest to refrigeration ($\leq 10^{\circ}$ C). Maximum allowable cooling time differs by region and is based on average maximum air temperature (FDA, 2015). While this approach will minimize the growth of *V. parahaemolyticus* in harvested oysters, it does not eliminate the risk of illness. Postharvest processes, including thermal processing, cold storage, irradiation, and high pressure (HPP), have been demonstrated to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters; however, these processes have a negative impact on oyster viability and product quality (Dionísio et al., 2009; Su, 2012). FDA defines effective post-harvest processes as those that reduce levels of *Vibrio* spp. from an initial MPN level of 100,000/gram to <30/gram (3.52 log MPN/g reduction) (FDA, 2015).

Oysters are filter-feeding animals which are capable of filtering large volumes (13 L/h) of seawater in relatively short periods of time (6 hours) (Loosanoff, 1958). Filter-feeding also enables oysters to release contaminants like bacteria (Chae et al., 2009; Sunnotel et al., 2007), viruses (Sobsey et al., 1987), and marine toxins (Cunningham & Tripp, 1973) into the bulk water. To take advantage of this biological process, depuration, a controlled process of holding oysters in a recirculating, sterilized seawater system, has been proposed as an option to reduce

V. parahaemolyticus contamination of raw oysters (Blogoslawski & Stewart, 1983). *Salmonella, Escherichia coli,* and *Pseudomonas* spp. have been shown to be easily reduced in oysters depurated at ambient temperature; however, *Vibrio* spp. persist in the oysters for longer periods of time (Son & Fleet, 1980; Vasconcelos & Lee, 1972). Depuration at reduced temperatures (7-15°C, 5 days) has been shown to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters (Phuvasate et al., 2012); however, further optimization is necessary to achieve the FDA target of a 3.52 log CFU/g reduction.

Flow rates for depuration systems must be operated at minimal 107 liters per minute per cubic meter of shellfish to achieve oxygen levels necessary maintaining oyster viability following harvest (FDA, 2015). Previous research has demonstrated that increasing the flow rate of seawater has a positive effect on oyster filtering rate (Wilson-Ormond et al., 1997). Lewis (2010) demonstrated that increasing the flow rate (68 L/min) of the depuration system led to increased reductions (up to 4.56 Log CFU/g) of *V. vulnificus* in Eastern oysters. The objective of this study was to determine the influence of depuration flow rate on the reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* in the Pacific oysters.

2.3 Material and Methods

2.4 Vibrio parahaemolyticus culture preparation

Five clinical strains of *V. parahaemolyticus* 10290 (serotype O4:K12, *tdh*+, *trh*+), 10292 (serotype O6:K18, *tdh*+, *trh*+), 10293 (serotype O1:K56, *tdh*+, *trh*+), BE 98-2029 (serotype O3:K6, *tdh*+, *trh*-), 1C1-O27 (serotype O5:K15, *tdh*+, *trh*-) were previously obtained from the FDA Pacific Regional Laboratory Northwest (Bothell, WA, USA). Strains were individually grown in 10 ml tryptic soy broth (Difco, Becton, Dickinson, Sparks, MD, USA) supplemented with 1.5% NaCl (TSB-Salt) at 35-37°C for 16-18 h. Each enriched culture was streaked onto a thiosulfate-citrate-bile salts-sucrose (TCBS) agar (Difco) plate and incubated at 37°C for 18-24 h. One single colony from each TCBS plate was transferred into 10 ml TSB-Salt and incubated at 35-37°C for 4 hr. Five enriched cultures of *V. parahaemolyticus* were then pooled into a 50-mL sterile centrifuge tube and harvested by centrifugation at 3000 x g at 5°C for 15 min. Pelleted cells were resuspended in 2% salt solution to produce a culture suspension of 8-9 log CFU/ml.

2.4.1 Oyster inoculation with V. parahaemolyticus

Freshly harvested Pacific oysters (small size; ~30 grams/oyster) were collected from Washington oyster farm (Chetlo Harbor Shellfish, Ilwaco, WA) and transported on ice to the Seafood Laboratory (Astoria, OR). Artificial seawater

(ASW) was prepared by dissolving Instant Ocean salt (Aquarium systems Inc., Mentor, OH) in deionized water to achieve a salinity of 30 ppt (parts per thousand). Oysters were washed with tap water to remove mud and then placed in a HDPE tank ($45 \times 30 \times 30$ cm; Nalgene, Rochester, NY, USA) containing 20 L artificial seawater (ASW). Oysters were held under ambient conditions (~20°C) with air continuously pumped into the tank overnight to keep oxygen level favorable to maintain biological activities of oysters. For inoculation, oysters (n = 35) were then submerged in ASW (20 L) containing the *V. parahaemolyticus* cocktail at a cell density of ~5 log CFU/ml and held overnight as described above (Su et al., 2010).

2.4.2 Depuration treatment

Oysters were depurated in a laboratory-scale system composed of a 15 W Gamma UV sterilizer (Current-USA Inc., Vista, CA, USA), a water chiller (Delta star, Aqua Logic, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), temperature controller (set at 12.5° C; Ranco ETC, Mexico), and a recirculating pump (Pan World Co., Ltd, Japan). Depuration process was conducted with 35 oysters in 70 L of ASW (oyster:water = 1:2) using flow rates of 15, 20, 25, or 35 L/min by different pumps for a maximum of 5 days.

2.4.3 Microbiological analysis.

Concentrations of *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters were determined by using the three-tube most-probable-number (MPN) method (Kaysner & DePaola, 2004).

Oysters (n = 5-6/time point) were randomly selected for analysis at each time point (i.e., days 0, 1, 3 5). Individual oysters were transferred from the depuration tank, shucked with a sterile shucking knife, and the oyster meat was aseptically transferred to a sterile blender jar. Oyster meat was homogenized with an equal volume of sterile alkaline phosphate buffer saline (PBS; pH 7.4) for 1 min at high speed by a laboratory blender (Waring Laboratory, Torrington, CT). Twenty grams of homogenized oyster sample (1:2 dilution) was mixed with 80 ml of PBS to prepare 1:10 dilution sample suspension. Additional 10-fold dilutions of the sample suspension were prepared using PBS. Sample dilutions were individually inoculated into 3 tubes of alkaline peptone water (APW; pH 8.5; Difco, Becton Dickinson). APW tubes were incubated at 37°C for 16-18 h. A 3-mm loopful from the top 1 cm of each turbid APW tube was streaked onto individual thiosulfatecitrate-bile salt-sucrose agar (TCBS) plates and incubated at 35-37°C for 18-24 h. Round, green or bluish colonies with 2-3 mm diameter on a TCBS plate after incubation was considered positive for *V. parahaemolyticus*.

2.4.4 Statistical analysis

Microbiological population levels were log-transformed and statistically analyzed using mixed model Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), and multiplecomparison of Tukey-Kramer using JMP (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC). Significant differences between reductions of *V. parahaemolyticus* at various times and flow rates during depuration were established at P < 0.05. Linear fit was used to describe the rate of reduction over time.

2.5 Results and Discussion

Survivors of *V. parahaemolyticus* over time at 15 L/min is reported in Figure 2.1. Depuration at 15 L/min resulted in reduction of the average *V. parahaemolyticus* population from 4.93 log MPN/g to 2.54 log MPN/g in five days. There was a large variability in the results during the first three days of depuration, with day 3 exhibiting the widest range from 2.46 log MPN/g to 4.38 log MPN/g (standard error = 0.33). This range is likely due to differences in filtering rates and activity of individual oysters. Linear estimates of survivors indicated a reduction rate of 0.41 log MPN/g/day of *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters using the 15 L/min flow rate ($R^2 = 0.67$).

Calculated log-reductions and rates of reduction for *V. parahaemolyticus* at four different flow rates are shown in Table 2.1. The 15 L/min flow rate resulted in the lowest reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* (2.39 log MPN/g). Increasing the depuration flow rate to 20 L/min or 25 L/min for 5 days enhanced the reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* to 2.68 log MPN/g and 2.80 log MPN/g, respectively (Table 2.1). Further increase in flow rate to 35 L/min resulted in an average reduction of 3.39 log MPN/g of *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters after 5 days. As the flow rate increased from 15 L/min to 35 L/min, the rate of *V. parahaemolyticus* reduction

significantly increased from 0.42 to 0.64 log reduction/day (P < 0.05). However, none of these depuration treatments achieved FDA's targeted 3.52 (MPN/g) log reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* for post-harvest shellfish processing (FDA, 2015). This agrees with our previous study which reported that depuration at 12.5 °C in 25 L/min did not achieve > 3.52 log MPN/g reduction (3.33 log MPN/g) (Phuvasate et al., 2012). Multiple depuration studies have demonstrated significant oyster-to-oyster variability which makes validation of the efficacy of a biologically-driven process especially challenging. This result with a > 3.0 log MPN/g mean reduction exhibits the effectiveness of high flow rate depuration. However, a validation of post-harvest process to achieved 3 log reduction for oyster harvested from Pacific Coast proposed by FDA need to confirm consistency (FDA, 2015).

Based on mixed model ANOVA, the difference of mean survivors of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* is most significantly impacted by duration of depuration (days). Statistically significant difference on mean reduction and rate of reduction of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* in flow rates between 35 L/min and other flow rates were also observed (P<0.05). There was not a significant difference in the *V*. *parahaemolyticus* reduction rate at 15 L/min, 20 L/min and 25 L/min, although a trend was apparent. This result confirms that higher flow rate of the depuration may help to enhance the efficacy of depuration in decreasing *V*. *parahaemolyticus* levels in Pacific oysters. Lewis et al. (2010) found depuration can produce >3.52 log CFU/g reduction of *V*. *vunificus* with higher flow rate (68 L/min) at ambient temperature, whereas low flow rate even increased by 0.23 log CFU/g (11 L/min) of *V. vulnificus* after 6 days. This finding indicates that higher flow rate achieved better effect but too low flow rate has negative impact on depuration. Continued increased flow rate on this study needs to be further researched.

The depuration process is achieved by holding oysters in clean seawater to purge contaminants from the digestive tract into water (Blogoslawski & Stewart, 1983). It is believed that the activity of pumping water can directly affect elimination of pathogens in shellfish (FDA, 2015). Therefore, the efficacy of depuration largely depends on oyster's physiological (water-pumping) activity. Oyster pumping rate can be influenced by the flow rate and water temperature; however, individual oyster pumping rate may substantially differ under the same environmental conditions (Loosanoff, 1958; Zu Ermgassen et al., 2013). Higher flow rate speeds up the substance exchange, which ensures *V. parahaemolyticus* in the bulk water to be rapidly sterilized, and avoids uptake of *V. parahaemolyticus* by oysters over again. This may partially explain the impact of increasing flow rate on efficacy of depuration.

Increasing the flow rate of artificial seawater for oyster depuration improved the efficacy of the process in reducing *V. parahaemolyticus* populations in artificially inoculate oysters. This study demonstrated that a depuration process at 12.5° C using 35 L/min can achieve >3.0 log MPN/g reductions of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* in the Pacific oysters in five days. Further studies are needed to optimize depuration to meet the >3.52 log MPN/g reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus*.

2.6 Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative of the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture grant number #2011-68003-30005. Thanks to faculty and staff at the Astoria Seafood Lab, specifically Sue Hansell and Craig Holt, for assisting with experimental design and improving functionality of depuration equipment.

References

- Blogoslawski, W. J., & Stewart, M. E. (1983). Depuration and public health. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 14(1-4), 533-545.
- Bubb, H. (1975). *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*-a marine pathogen detected in South African coastal waters. *South African Medical Journal*, 49(37), 1514-1516.
- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. (2013). Increase in *Vibrio* parahaemolyticus Illnesses Associated with Consumption of Shellfish from Several Atlantic Coast Harvest Areas, United States, 2013.
- Chae, M., Cheney, D., & Su, Y. C. (2009). Temperature effects on the depuration of Vibrio parahaemolyticus and *Vibrio vulnificus* from the American oyster (Crassostrea virginica). *Journal of Food Science*, 74(2), M62-M66.
- Cook, D. W., O'Leary, P., Hunsucker, J. C., Sloan, E. M., Bowers, J. C., Blodgett, R. J., & DePaola, A. (2002). *Vibrio vulnificus* and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in US retail shell oysters: a national survey from June 1998 to July 1999. *Journal of Food Protection*, 65(1), 79-87.

- Cunningham, P., & Tripp, M. (1973). Accumulation and depuration of mercury in the American oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. *Marine Biology*, 20(1), 14-19.
- Daniels, N. A., MacKinnon, L., Bishop, R., Altekruse, S., Ray, B., Hammond, R. M., Thompson, S., Wilson, S., Bean, N. H., & Griffin, P. M. (2000). *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* infections in the United States, 1973–1998. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 181(5), 1661-1666.
- DePaola, A., Hopkins, L., Peeler, J., Wentz, B., & McPhearson, R. (1990). Incidence of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in US coastal waters and oysters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 56(8), 2299-2302.
- Dionísio, A. P., Gomes, R. T., & Oetterer, M. (2009). Ionizing radiation effects on food vitamins: a review. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 52(5), 1267-1278.
- US Food Drug Administration. (2015). *National shellfish sanitation program* (*NSSP*), *Guide for the control of molluscan shellfish*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/GuidanceRegulation/FederalStateFo</u> <u>odPrograms/UCM505093.pdf</u>.
- Gooch, J., DePaola, A., Kaysner, C., & Marshall, D. (2001). Evaluation of two direct plating methods using nonradioactive probes for enumeration of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in oysters. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 67(2), 721-724.
- Kaysner, C. A., & DePaola, A. (2004). Bacteriological Analytical Manual: *Vibrio*. (U.S. Food and Drug Administration).
- Lewis, M., Rikard, S., & Arias, C. (2010). Evaluation of a flow-through depuration system to eliminate the human pathogen *Vibrio vulnificus* from oysters. *Journal of Aquaculture Research & Development*, 1(2), 103.
- Lewis, M. R. (2010). Evaluation of a Flow-Through Depuration System to Eliminate the Human Pathogen *Vibrio vulnificus* from the Eastern Oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*). Auburn University.
- Loosanoff, V. L. (1958). Some aspects of behavior of oysters at different temperatures. *The Biological Bulletin*, 114(1), 57-70.
- Newton, A. E., Garrett, N., Stroika, S. G., Halpin, J. L., Turnsek, M., & Mody, R. K. (2014). Notes from the field: increase in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*

infections associated with consumption of atlantic coast shellfish-2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 63*, 335-336.

- Phuvasate, S., Chen, M.-H., & Su, Y.-C. (2012). Reductions of *Vibrio* parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) by depuration at various temperatures. *Food microbiology*, 31(1), 51-56.
- Sobsey, M., Davis, A., & Rullman, V. (1987). Persistence of hepatitis A virus and other viruses in depurated Eastern oysters. Paper presented at the OCEANS'87.
- Son, N. T., & Fleet, G. H. (1980). Behavior of pathogenic bacteria in the oyster, Crassostrea commercialis, during depuration, re-laying, and storage. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 40(6), 994-1002.
- Su, Y.-C. (2012). Pathogenic Vibrios and Food Safety. Pathogenic Vibrios and Food Safety. New York: Nova Science Pulishers, Inc.
- Su, Y.-C., Yang, Q., & Hase, C. (2010). Refrigerated seawater depuration for reducing Vibrio parahaemolyticus contamination in Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas). Journal of Food Protection, 73(6), 1111-1115.
- Sunnotel, O., Snelling, W., McDonough, N., Browne, L., Moore, J., Dooley, J., & Lowery, C. (2007). Effectiveness of standard UV depuration at inactivating *Cryptosporidium parvum* recovered from spiked Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 73(16), 5083-5087.
- Vasconcelos, G., & Lee, J. (1972). Microbial flora of Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) subjected to ultraviolet-irradiated seawater. *Applied Microbiology*, 23(1), 11-16.
- Wilson-Ormond, E., Powell, E., & Ray, S. (1997). Short-term and small-scale variation in food availability to natural oyster populations: Food, flow and flux. *Marine Ecology*, *18*(1), 1-34.
- Zu Ermgassen, P. S., Spalding, M. D., Grizzle, R. E., & Brumbaugh, R. D.
 (2013). Quantifying the loss of a marine ecosystem service: filtration by the eastern oyster in US estuaries. *Estuaries and Coasts*, *36*(1), 36-43.

	Flow Rate (L/min)			
	15 (n=1)	20 (n=1)	25 (n=4)	35 (n=3)
Reduction on day 5 (log MPN/g)	$2.39\pm0.12^{\mathtt{a}}A$	$2.68 \pm 0.11 A$	$2.80\pm0.13A$	$3.39\pm0.12B$
Rate of reduction* (log MPN/g/day)	0.42	0.48	0.54 ± 0.02	0.64 ± 0.05

Table 2.1 Reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* (log MPN/g) after 5 days of depuration and rate of reduction (log MPN/g/day) of *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters using various depuration flow rates at 12.5°C.

^a Values were reported as means of population \pm standard error. Data with different letters in the same row are significantly different (P <0.05).

*Data are slopes of log reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* at different flow rates. ⁿ Means the number of replicates for each flow rate. Tests with flow rate of 15 L/min and 20 L/min lack replication of tests.





Markers indicate *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in individual oysters (n = 5 per time point).

Chapter 3 Impact of feeding status on the efficacy of depuration for decontaminating *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* in Pacific Oysters (*Crassostrea*

gigas)

Ziwen Ming, Yi-Cheng Su, Christina M. DeWitt, and Joy Waite-Cusic

(Submitted to Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology)

3.1 Abstract

Vibrio parahaemolyticus causes acute human gastroenteritis and is often linked to consumption of raw oysters. Previous investigations indicated that refrigerated seawater depuration at 12.5°C could significantly reduce V. *parahaemolyticus* contamination in Pacific oysters; however, further optimization is necessary to achieve the regulatory target of $>3.52 \log MPN/g$ reduction. The current study investigated influences of algal feeding on efficacy of depuration to reduce V. parahaemolyticus in raw oysters. A V. parahaemolyticus cocktail (10290, 10292, 10293, BE 98-2029, 027-1c1) was mixed in artificial seawater (70 L) to inoculate oysters (n = 35) at 4-5 log MPN/g. Inoculated oysters were subjected to deputation with feed (algae = 0.036 ml/gram of oyster) and without feed at 12.5° C. Oysters (n = 5) were analyzed for V. parahaemolyticus using a three-tube most probable number (MPN) method after 0, 1, 3, 5, and 6 days of depuration. Depuration (6 days) achieved average V. parahaemolyticus reductions of 2.75 log MPN/g and 3.03 log MPN/g in the fed and unfed systems, respectively; however, feeding status did not significantly impact the efficacy of depuration to reduce V. parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters. Further optimization of depuration is necessary to achieve the regulatory target for V. parahaemolyticus decontamination in raw oysters.

3.2 Introduction

Vibrio parahaemolyticus is the leading cause of foodborne illnesses associated with consumption of contaminated seafood, particularly oysters (CDC, 2013). Consumption of raw oysters contaminated with high levels of *V. parahaemolyticus* (10⁵CFU/g) may lead to development of acute gastroenteritis (DePaola et al., 1990; Levine et al., 1993). It is estimated that around 4,600 cases of *V. parahaemolyticus* infections occur each year in the U.S. with 62% of them (2,800 cases) associated with consumption of raw oysters (FDA, 2005). FDA (2015) required that post-harvest process must reduce *Vibrio* spp. to non-detectable levels (<30MPN/g) and achieve a 3.52 log reduction.

Several post-harvest processes, including quick frozen (IQF) (Liu et al., 2010), thermal treatment (Andrews et al., 2000; Johnston & Brown, 2002), high pressure processing (HPP) (Calik et al., 2002), and irradiation (Despaigne et al., 2001; Tamplin & Capers, 1992), have been evaluated to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters. While these processes are effective at reducing *V. parahaemolyticus* populations, they are unsuitable for markets that demand fresh oysters as these processes also kill the animal. The oyster industry is interested in identifying suitable post-harvest processes that maintain oyster viability while also reducing the risk of *V. parahaemolyticus* contamination.

Oysters feed by filtering large volumes of seawater through their digestive system. In nature, this process serves as a mechanism for accumulation of pathogens, including *V. parahaemolyticus*, from contaminated water (Goyal & Nelson, 1984; Loosanoff, 1958); however, this natural process can also be used to clear bacteria and viruses from the oyster. Depuration, a controlled process of holding shellfish in recirculated, sterilized (UV light) seawater has been demonstrated to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters (Blogoslawski & Stewart, 1983). Phuvasate et al. (2012) reported that depuration at reduced temperatures (7-15°C, 5 days) was shown to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* by >3.0 log MPN/g in oysters. To achieve the FDA target of a 3.52 log CFU/g reduction for post-harvest process (FDA, 2015), further optimization of depuration is needed.

Oyster activity (i.e., filter feeding) can directly affect elimination of pathogens (FDA, 2015). Previous depuration studies have been conducted using artificial seawater that has not been supplemented with nutrients to support oyster viability (Chae et al., 2009). Feeding oysters may increase the filtering activity of oysters (Haure et al., 2003) and potentially improve the clearance of *V. parahaemolyticus* during depuration. Sobsey et al. (1987) investigated the effect of continuous algae treatment on reducing virus in depurated oyster and found no evident enhancement of depurated efficacy. The objective of this study was to determine whether feeding during depuration would have a positive impact on the reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* in Pacific oysters.

3.3 Methods and Materials

3.3.1 Vibrio parahaemolyticus culture preparation

Five clinical strains of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* 10290 (serotype O4:K12, *tdh*+, *trh*+), 10292 (serotype O6:K18, *tdh*+, *trh*+), 10293 (serotype O1:K56, *tdh*+, *trh*+), BE 98-2029 (serotype O3:K6, *tdh*+, *trh*-), 1C1-O27 (serotype O5:K15, *tdh*+, *trh*-) were obtained from the FDA Pacific Regional Laboratory Northwest (Bothell, WA, USA). Strains were individually grown in 10 ml tryptic soy broth (Difco, Becton, Dickinson, Sparks, MD, USA) supplemented with 1.5% NaCl (TSB-Salt) at 35-37°C for 16-18 h. Each enriched culture was streaked onto a thiosulfate-citrate-bile salts-sucrose (TCBS) agar (Difco) plate and incubated at 37°C for 18-24 h. One single colony from each TCBS plate was transferred into 10 ml TSB-Salt and incubated at 35-37°C for 4 hr. Five enriched cultures of *V. parahaemolyticus* were then pooled into a 50-mL sterile centrifuge tube and harvested by centrifugation at 3000 x *g* at 5°C for 15 min. Pelleted cells were re-suspended in 2% salt solution to produce a culture suspension of 8-9 log CFU/ml (Su et al., 2010).

3.3.2 Oyster preparation and inoculation

Freshly harvested raw Pacific oysters (small size; ~30 grams/oyster) were collected from a Washington oyster farm (Chetlo Harbor Shellfish, Ilwaco, WA) and transported on ice to Oregon State University's Seafood Laboratory (Astoria, OR). Artificial seawater (ASW) was prepared by dissolving Instant Ocean salt (Aquarium Systems Inc., Mentor, OH) in deionized water to achieve a salinity of 30 ppt (parts per thousand). Oysters were washed with tap water to remove mud and then placed in a HDPE tank ($45 \times 30 \times 30$ cm; Nalgene, Rochester, NY) containing 20 L ASW. Oysters were held under ambient conditions (~20°C) with air continuously pumped into the tank overnight to maintain sufficient oxygen levels (Su et al., 2010). For each experiment, oysters (n = 35) were submerged in aerated ASW (20 L) containing the *V. parahaemolyticus* cocktail at a cell density of ~5 log CFU/ml and held overnight at room temperature.

3.3.3 Depuration with algae treatment

Oysters were depurated in a laboratory-scale system composed of a 15 W Gamma UV sterilizer (Current-USA, Inc., Vista, CA), a water chiller (Delta Star, Aqua Logic, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), temperature controller (set at 12.5° C; Ranco ETC, Mexico), and a recirculating pump (Pan World Co., Ltd, Japan). The depuration process was conducted with 35 oysters in 70 L of ASW (oyster:water = 1:2) with a flow rate of 25 L/min at 12.5°C. Algae (0.036 ml/g; Shellfish Diet 1800, Reed Mariculture Inc., Campbell, CA) were batch fed to oysters (n = 30) every morning in depurated seawater (60 L) for up to 6 days. The control treatment (unfed) was identical with the exception of algae feeding.

3.3.4 Measurement of algae consumption and oyster gaping activity

Water samples (50 ml) were collected every day at three time points (10 min after daily addition of algae, 10 hrs into feeding, 24 hrs into feeding) for up to 6 days. At these time points, the remaining algae concentration in depurated seawater was determined by visual enumeration using a counting chamber (Hausser Scientific Company, Horsham, PA) and laboratory microscope (Amscope, Inc., Irvine, CA). Absorbance of water (400 nm) was analyzed by spectrophotometer (Shimadzu Corporation, Japan) measure turbidity of water. Rate of algae consumption was calculated as consumed algae cell per unit volume per oyster per hour (cell/ml/oyster/hour).

Movement of oysters was monitored by a Gape-O-Meter (Pacific Shellfish Institute, Olympia, WA) in both fed and unfed groups. The Gape-O-Meter consists of rectangular bars containing an electronic device that measures the distance between the bar and magnetic sensor. Three oysters in each group were glued to each bar with a magnetic sensor attached to the upper shell. The distances were recorded every 5 min for 5 days and the activity of each oyster was expressed as percentage of maximum distance recorded.

3.3.5 Analysis of V. parahaemolyticus in oysters

Concentrations of *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters were determined by using the three-tube most-probable-number (MPN) method (Kaysner & DePaola, 2004).

Oysters (n = 5/time point) were randomly selected for analysis at each time point (i.e., days 0, 1, 3 5). Individual oysters were transferred from the depuration tank, shucked with a sterile shucking knife, and the oyster meat was aseptically transferred to a sterile blender jar. Oyster meat was homogenized with an equal volume of sterile alkaline phosphate buffer saline (PBS; pH 7.4) for 1 min at high speed by a laboratory blender (Waring Laboratory, Torrington, CT). Twenty grams of homogenized oyster sample (1:2 dilution) was mixed with 80 ml of PBS to prepare 1:10 dilution sample suspension. Additional 10-fold dilutions of the sample suspension were prepared using PBS. Sample dilutions were individually inoculated into 3 tubes of alkaline peptone water (APW; pH 8.5; Difco, Becton Dickinson). APW tubes were incubated at 37°C for 16-18 h. A 3-mm loopful from the top 1 cm of each turbid APW tube was streaked onto individual thiosulfatecitrate-bile salt-sucrose agar (TCBS) plates and incubated at 35-37°C for 18-24 h. Round, green or bluish colonies with 2-3 mm diameter on a TCBS plate after incubation was considered positive for V. parahaemolyticus. The efficacy of the UV sterilizer in eliminating V. parahaemolyticus in artificial seawater during depuration was verified by three-tube most-probable-number (MPN) method. Fifty milliliter of original seawater sample and 10-fold dilution sample suspensions were analyzed by inoculating in APW tubes. Results were confirmed by TCBS agar as mentioned above.

3.3.6 Statistical analysis

Log-transformed microbiological population levels, rate of algae consumption and valve openness of osyter were statistically analyzed using mixed model, one way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), and multiple-comparison of Tukey-Kramer using JMP (SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC). Significant differences between treatment group and control group during depuration were established at P < 0.05. Linear fit was used to describe the rate of reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* over time.

3.4 Results and Discussion

The correlation between algae concentration (cell/ml) in seawater determined by direct microscopic count and absorbance (OD_{400 nm}) is shown in Figure 3.1. Previous studies have utilized spectrophotometric measurement to estimate algal cell density during their growth in monoculture and typically focus on maximum absorbance wavelengths associated with chlorophyll (677-688 nm) (Rodrigues et al., 2011; Santos-Ballardo et al., 2015). The shellfish diet used in the current study is a non-viable mixture of various microalgae (*Isochrysis, Pavlova, Tetraselmis, Chaetoceros calcitrans, Thalossiosira* spp.) that range in size from 4-20 μ m (Rikard & Walton, 2012). Spectral absorbance characteristics of individual algae species within a population can express different absorbance ranges even at the same concentration and vary over time and between locations (Knuckey et al., 2005; Lohrenz et al., 1999). Based on the relatively low R² value for the spectrophotometric measurement, direct microscopic counts were used to determine algal cell density for the remainder of the study. A critical aspect of the depuration system is the decontamination of water that contains viable *V*. *parahaemolyticus* cells that have been purged by the oysters. Water decontamination occurs via UV light as the water is recirculated through the depuration system. Increased turbidity of the water due to algae and the predicted increase in fecal material from feeding may negatively impact the efficacy of sanitation treatment by UV light (FDA, 2015). Seawater samples were collected and tested to verify that the UV treatment was effective in both fed and unfed systems (data not shown).

An example of algae feeding schedule and changes in algal concentrations throughout the depuration treatment of oysters is shown in in Figure 3.2. As expected, algae cell density declined each day as a function of oyster feeding. The slope of the daily algal reduction was used to calculate an average rate of algal consumption of approximately 1400 ± 300 algae cells/ml/oyster/hour throughout the 6-day depuration. Further observations quantifying activity of fed and unfed oysters during depuration were collected to infer oyster pumping activity (Figure 3.3). On average, there is a decreasing trend of openness over time in the fed group. The openness of unfed oysters was significantly lower on day 2 (32.5% openness vs. 56.2% openness for fed oysters); however, the activity of unfed oysters recovered to comparable openness by day 3 and held throughout the remainder of

the depuration treatment. Overall, there was not a significant difference in oyster openness during depuration based on feeding status (P>0.05). Higgins (1980) previously reported that continuously fed Eastern oysters showed a higher activity (94.3% valve openness) compared to starved oysters (35.1% openness) for 3 days by holding oysters in aerated seawater; however, variables that influence oyster activity are numerous and interdependent. Previous studies have demonstrated that combinations of feed availability and bulk water flow differentially influence oyster activity (Wilson-Ormond et al., 1997). Valve openness is associated with oxygen and food acquisition, and, as expected, activity related to oxygen intake will continue in the absence of feed (Haure et al., 2003). Results from the current study suggest that valve openness during depuration primary serves to satisfy the oxygen needs of the oyster and that feeding status is a minor contributor to this observation. However, it is possible that modifications could be made to the system (feed quality, timing of feeding, water temperature, water flow rate, etc) that could enhance the differences between oysters depending on feeding status.

The primary objective of this study was to determine whether feeding oysters during depuration would enhance the removal of *V. parahaemolyticus*. A comparison of the efficacy of depuration to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters with and without algal feeding is shown in Figure 3.4. Initial *V. parahaemolyticus* concentration in oysters averaged 5.59 log MPN/g (standard error = 0.22). *V. parahaemolyticus* populations were reduced to 3.40 log MPN/g in fed oysters and

to 3.12 log MPN/g in unfed oysters after 5 days of depuration. Overall, depuration resulted in a significant reduction of V. parahaemolyticus; however, there was not a significant difference in V. parahaemolyticus reduction based on feeding status (P>0.05). Previous studies in unfed depuration systems using comparable settings (temperature, flow rate, duration) have reported comparable reductions in V. parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (Ming et al., 2017; Phuvasate et al., 2012). Sobsey et al. (1987) found that algae treat in depuration water had no appreciable effect on the rates of reduction of virus (poliovirus and Hepatitis A Virus) in Eastern oysters. Neither set of depuration conditions (fed or unfed) were able to achieve the FDA targeted V. parahaemolyticus reduction of $>3.52 \log MPN/g$, even with the depuration extended to 6 days (Figure 4.4). Average V. parahaemolyticus reduction rates were estimated to be 0.38 log MPN/g/day for fed oysters and 0.42 log MPN/g/day for unfed oysters. These rates predict that depuration treatment would need to extend beyond 8 days to achieve the targeted reduction; however, this extended time would be too costly to the industry and would likely result in reduced viability and quality. However, the predictability of these rates should be cautioned due to the variability of biological activity of individual oysters as evidenced by the relatively low R^2 values (0.65-0.66).

This study has demonstrated that the feeding status of oysters has no significant impact on the efficacy of depuration to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in Pacific oysters. Further optimization of the depuration process is needed

to achieve the targeted reduction of $>3.52 \log MPN/g$ of *V. parahaemolyticus* population in Pacific oysters.

3.5 Acknowledgments

This study was supported by Agriculture and Food Research Initiative of the USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture grant number #2011-68003-30005. We would like to thank the faculty and staff at the Astoria Seafood Lab, specifically Craig Holt, for assisting with and improving functionality of the depuration equipment. We would also like to thank Dr. Chris Langdon of the Hatfield Marine Science Center for sharing his expertise on the biological activity of oysters that guided this study. We would also like to thank Dr. Cathy (Chengchu) Liu of of the University of Maryland Eastern Shore for sharing her knowledge on depuration.

Reference

- Andrews, L., Park, D., & Chen, Y.-P. (2000). Low temperature pasteurization to reduce the risk of vibrio infections from raw shell-stock oysters. *Food Additives & Contaminants*, 17(9), 787-791.
- Blogoslawski, W. J., & Stewart, M. E. (1983). Depuration and public health. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 14(1-4), 533-545.
- Calik, H., Morrissey, M., Reno, P., & An, H. (2002). Effect of High-Pressure Processing on Vibrio parahaemolyticus Strains in Pure Culture and Pacific Oysters. *Journal of food science*, 67(4), 1506-1510.

- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. (2013). Increase in Vibrio Parahaemolyticus Illnesses Associated with Consumption of Shellfish from Several Atlantic Coast Harvest Areas, United States, 2013.
- Chae, M., Cheney, D., & Su, Y. C. (2009). Temperature effects on the depuration of Vibrio parahaemolyticus and Vibrio vulnificus from the American oyster (Crassostrea virginica). *Journal of food science*, 74(2).
- DePaola, A., Hopkins, L., Peeler, J., Wentz, B., & McPhearson, R. (1990). Incidence of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in US coastal waters and oysters. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 56(8), 2299-2302.
- Despaigne, E. C., Castillo, V. L., Rodriguez, E. C., Martinez, L., & Ortiz, C. L. (2001). Decontamination of Cuban oysters using irradiation. *Irradiation to control vibrio infection from consumption of raw seafood and fresh produce*, 7.
- US Food Drug Administration. (2005). *Quantitative risk assessment on the public health impact of pathogenic Vibrio parahaemolyticus in raw oysters.*
- US Food Drug Administration. (2015). National shellfish sanitation program (NSSP), Guide for the control of molluscan shellfish Retrieved from <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/GuidanceRegulation/FederalStateFo</u> <u>odPrograms/UCM505093.pdf</u>.
- Goyal, S. M., & Nelson, M. D. (1984). Viral pollution of the marine environment. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Control*, 14(1), 1-32.
- Haure, J., Huvet, A., Palvadeau, H., Nourry, M., Penisson, C., Martin, J., & Boudry, P. (2003). Feeding and respiratory time activities in the cupped oysters Crassostrea gigas, Crassostrea angulata and their hybrids. *Aquaculture*, 218(1), 539-551.
- Higgins, P. J. (1980). Effects of food availability on the valve movements and feeding behavior of juvenile Crassostrea virginica (Gmelin). I. Valve movements and periodic activity. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, *45*(2), 229-244.

- Johnston, M., & Brown, M. (2002). An investigation into the changed physiological state of Vibrio bacteria as a survival mechanism in response to cold temperatures and studies on their sensitivity to heating and freezing. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *92*(6), 1066-1077.
- Kaysner, C. A., & DePaola, A. (2004). Bacteriological Analytical Manual:Vibrio. (U.S. Food and Drug Administration,).
- Knuckey, R. M., Semmens, G. L., Mayer, R. J., & Rimmer, M. A. (2005). Development of an optimal microalgal diet for the culture of the calanoid copepod Acartia sinjiensis: effect of algal species and feed concentration on copepod development. *Aquaculture*, 249(1), 339-351.
- Levine, W. C., Griffin, P. M., & Group, G. C. V. W. (1993). Vibrio infections on the Gulf Coast: results of first year of regional surveillance. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 167(2), 479-483.
- Liu, W., Shen, X., Liu, C., & Su, Y. C. (2010). Vibrio parahaemolyticus in granulated ark shell clam (Tegillarca granosas): accumulation from water and survival during cold storage and thermal process. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 45(4), 670-675.
- Lohrenz, S. E., Fahnenstiel, G. L., Kirkpatrick, G. J., Carroll, C. L., & Kelly, K. A. (1999). Microphotometric assessment of spectral absorption and its potential application for characterization of harmful algal species. *Journal* of Phycology, 35(6), 1438-1446.
- Loosanoff, V. L. (1958). Some aspects of behavior of oysters at different temperatures. *The Biological Bulletin*, 114(1), 57-70.
- Ming, Z., Su, Y.-C., DeWitt, C., M., & Waite-Cusic, J. (2017). Flow rate of depuration system has minimal impact on Vibrio parahaemolyticus decontamination in Pacific Oysters (Crassostrea gigas). Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Phuvasate, S., Chen, M.-H., & Su, Y.-C. (2012). Reductions of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas) by depuration at various temperatures. *Food microbiology*, *31*(1), 51-56.

- Rikard, F. S., & Walton, W. C. (2012). Use of Microalgae Concentrates for Rearing Oyster Larvae, Crassostrea virginica. In *Mississippi–Alabama Sea Grant Publication No.: MASGP-12-048*.
- Rodrigues, L. H. R., Raya-Rodriguez, M. T., & Fontoura, N. F. (2011). Algal density assessed by spectrophotometry: A calibration curve for the unicellular algae Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. *Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology*, 3(8), 225-228.
- Santos-Ballardo, D. U., Rossi, S., Hernández, V., Gómez, R. V., del Carmen Rendón-Unceta, M., Caro-Corrales, J., & Valdez-Ortiz, A. (2015). A simple spectrophotometric method for biomass measurement of important microalgae species in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, 448, 87-92.
- Sobsey, M., Davis, A., & Rullman, V. (1987). *Persistence of hepatitis A virus and other viruses in depurated Eastern oysters*. Paper presented at the OCEANS'87.
- Su, Y.-C., Yang, Q., & Hase, C. (2010). Refrigerated seawater depuration for reducing Vibrio parahaemolyticus contamination in Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas). *Journal of Food Protection*, 73(6), 1111-1115.
- Tamplin, M. L., & Capers, G. (1992). Persistence of Vibrio vulnificus in tissues of Gulf Coast oysters, Crassostrea virginica, exposed to seawater disinfected with UV light. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 58(5), 1506-1510.
- Wilson-Ormond, E., Powell, E., & Ray, S. (1997). Short-Term and Small-Scale Variation in Food Availability to Natural Oyster Populations: Food, Flow and Flux. *Marine Ecology*, 18(1), 1-34.



Figure 3.1 Correlation of absorbance (OD_{400 nm}) with algae cell density (cell/ml) as measured by direct microscopic count in artificial seawater (n = 4).





Dashed lines indicate time points of feeding (every 24 hrs). The number of oysters in the depuration tank during each feeding period is displayed at the top of the figure.





Each bar represents the mean openness (n = 3) with bars indicating standard error. * indicates a significant difference in the openness between fed and unfed oysters (P<0.05).



Figure 3.4 Decrease in *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* contamination (log MPN/g) in Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) during depuration using flow rate of 25L/min at 12.5°C with and without algal feeding.

Markers indicate V. parahaemolyticus cell density in individual oysters.
Chapter 4 General Conclusion

Vibrio parahaemolyticus is one of the leading cause of human gastroenteritis associated with seafood (Letchumanan et al., 2014). This study was aimed to investigate effects of flow rate and feeding treatment on depuration process in reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in Pacific oysters. Our long-term goal is to optimize this process for adoption by the industry to decrease risks of *V. parahaemolyticus* infections caused by raw oyster consumption.

Studies were conducted to investigate the impact of flow rate in depuration systems to increase its efficacy in reducing *V. parahaemolyticus* (10290, 19292, 10293, BE 98-2029, O27-1c1) populations in Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*). Depuration process with flow rate of 15 L/min deceased *V. parahaemolyticus* in artificial contaminated oysters by 2.39 log MPN/g after 5 days of in artificial seawater (ASW) at 12.5 °C. Greater reductions of *V. parahaemolyticus* populations (2.80 and 3.39 log MPN/g) in oysters were observed through depuration with increased flow rates (25 and 35 L/min), respectively. The highest flow rate in this study (35 L/min) significantly enhanced the ability of depuration process for decontaminating *V. parahaemolyticus* in oysters.

The impact of feeding treatment on the efficacy of depuration in decreasing *V*. *parahaemolyticus* levels in oysters was studied. A significant difference of valve activity was observed between fed oysters and unfed oysters only on second day of depuration. Feeding treatment had no significant enhancement in reduction of *V*. *parahaemolyticus* after five days of depuration at 12.5° C.

In summary, increasing the flow rate of depuration system (to 35 L/min) is capable of increasing the efficacy of depuration to reduce *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in oysters. Feeding status of oysters does not impact the efficacy of depuration. Despite improvements in the efficacy of depuration, we have not found a combination of depuration parameters that achieve FDA's requirement of >3.52log MPN/g reduction of *V. parahaemolyticus* in Pacific oysters. Future studies are needed to optimize the depuration process for efficient commercial application by the shellfish industry.

Bibliography

- Anderson, A. J., Clark, A. H., Ma, X.-P., Palmer, G. R., MacArthur, J. D., & Roedder, E. (1989). Proton-induced X-ray and gamma-ray emission analysis of unopened fluid inclusions. *Economic Geology*, 84(4), 924-939.
- Andrews, L., Jahncke, M., & Mallikarjunan, K. (2003). Low dose gamma irradiation to reduce pathogenic vibrios in live oysters (Crassostrea virginica). *Journal of Aquatic Food Product Technology*, 12(3), 71-82.
- Andrews, L., Park, D., & Chen, Y.-P. (2000). Low temperature pasteurization to reduce the risk of vibrio infections from raw shell-stock oysters. *Food Additives & Contaminants*, 17(9), 787-791.
- Andrews, W. H., G. A. June, P. S. Sherrod, T. S. Hammack, and R. M. Amaguana. (1995). Salmonella. In Bacteriological Analytical Manual,8th ed (pp. 5.01-05.02).
- Banks, P., Berrigan, M., Choudhury, A., Craig, L., Diaz, D., Kern, F., King, J., Marshall, M., Robinson, L., & Steimle, F. (2007). Status review of the eastern oyster (Crassostrea virginica). *Report to the National Marine Fisheries Service, Northeast Regional Office, Gloucester, MA, USA*.
- Baross, J., & Liston, J. (1970). Occurrence of Vibrio parahaemolyticus and related hemolytic vibrios in marine environments of Washington State. *Applied microbiology*, 20(2), 179-186.
- Bej, A. K., Patterson, D. P., Brasher, C. W., Vickery, M. C., Jones, D. D., & Kaysner, C. A. (1999). Detection of total and hemolysin-producing Vibrio parahaemolyticus in shellfish using multiplex PCR amplification of tl, tdh and trh. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 36(3), 215-225.
- Berlin, D. L., Herson, D. S., Hicks, D. T., & Hoover, D. G. (1999). Response of pathogenic Vibrio species to high hydrostatic pressure. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 65(6), 2776-2780.

- Beuchat, L. (1975). Environmental factors affecting survival and growth of Vibrio parahaemolyticus. A review. *Journal of Milk and Food Technology*, *38*(8), 476-480.
- Beuchat, L. R. (1973). Interacting effects of pH, temperature, and salt concentration on growth and survival of Vibrio parahaemolyticus. *Applied microbiology*, 25(5), 844-846.
- Blackstone, G. M., Nordstrom, J. L., Vickery, M. C., Bowen, M. D., Meyer, R. F., & DePaola, A. (2003). Detection of pathogenic Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oyster enrichments by real time PCR. *Journal of Microbiological Methods*, 53(2), 149-155.
- Blodgett, R. (2010). BAM Appendix 2: Most Probable Number from Serial Dilutions. Retrieved January 19, 2015. In.
- Blogoslawski, W. J., & Stewart, M. E. (1983). Depuration and public health. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 14(1-4), 533-545.
- Bubb, H. (1975). Vibrio parahaemolyticus-a marine pathogen detected in South African coastal waters. *South African Medical Journal*, 49(37), 1514-1516.
- Butt, A. A., Aldridge, K. E., & Sanders, C. V. (2004). Infections related to the ingestion of seafood Part I: Viral and bacterial infections. *The Lancet infectious diseases*, 4(4), 201-212.
- Calik, H., Morrissey, M., Reno, P., & An, H. (2002). Effect of High-Pressure Processing on Vibrio parahaemolyticus Strains in Pure Culture and Pacific Oysters. *Journal of food science*, 67(4), 1506-1510.
- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. (1998). *Outbreak of Vibrio* parahaemolyticus infections associated with eating raw oysters--Pacific Northwest, 1997 (0149-2195).
- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. (2006). Vibrio parahaemolyticus infections associated with consumption of raw shellfish--three states, 2006 (1545-861X).

- Centers for Disease Control Prevention. (2013). Increase in Vibrio Parahaemolyticus Illnesses Associated with Consumption of Shellfish from Several Atlantic Coast Harvest Areas, United States, 2013.
- Chae, M., Cheney, D., & Su, Y. C. (2009). Temperature effects on the depuration of Vibrio parahaemolyticus and Vibrio vulnificus from the American oyster (Crassostrea virginica). *Journal of food science*, 74(2).
- Cook, D. W. (2003). Sensitivity of Vibrio species in phosphate-buffered saline and in oysters to high-pressure processing. *Journal of Food Protection*, *66*(12), 2276-2282.
- Cook, D. W., Bowers, J. C., & DePaoLA, A. (2002a). Density of total and pathogenic (tdh+) Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Atlantic and Gulf Coast molluscan shellfish at harvest. *Journal of Food Protection*, 65(12), 1873-1880.
- Cook, D. W., O'Leary, P., Hunsucker, J. C., Sloan, E. M., Bowers, J. C., Blodgett, R. J., & DePaola, A. (2002b). Vibrio vulnificus and Vibrio parahaemolyticus in US retail shell oysters: a national survey from June 1998 to July 1999. *Journal of Food Protection*, 65(1), 79-87.
- Croci, L., Suffredini, E., Cozzi, L., & Toti, L. (2002). Effects of depuration of molluscs experimentally contaminated with Escherichia coli, Vibrio cholerae O1 and Vibrio parahaemolyticus. *Journal of applied microbiology*, 92(3), 460-465.
- Cunningham, P., & Tripp, M. (1973). Accumulation and depuration of mercury in the American oyster Crassostrea virginica. *Marine Biology*, 20(1), 14-19.
- Daniels, N. A., MacKinnon, L., Bishop, R., Altekruse, S., Ray, B., Hammond, R. M., Thompson, S., Wilson, S., Bean, N. H., & Griffin, P. M. (2000).
 Vibrio parahaemolyticus infections in the United States, 1973–1998. *The Journal of infectious diseases, 181*(5), 1661-1666.
- DePaola, A., Hopkins, L., Peeler, J., Wentz, B., & McPhearson, R. (1990). Incidence of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in US coastal waters and oysters. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 56(8), 2299-2302.

- DePaola, A., Jones, J. L., Noe, K. E., Byars, R. H., & Bowers, J. C. (2009). Survey of postharvest-processed oysters in the United States for levels of Vibrio vulnificus and Vibrio parahaemolyticus. *Journal of Food Protection*, 72(10), 2110-2113.
- DePaola, A., Kaysner, C. A., Bowers, J., & Cook, D. W. (2000). Environmental investigations of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters after outbreaks in Washington, Texas, and New York (1997 and 1998). *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 66(11), 4649-4654.
- DePaola, A., Nordstrom, J. L., Bowers, J. C., Wells, J. G., & Cook, D. W. (2003). Seasonal abundance of total and pathogenic Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Alabama oysters. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 69(3), 1521-1526.
- Despaigne, E. C., Castillo, V. L., Rodriguez, E. C., Martinez, L., & Ortiz, C. L. (2001). Decontamination of Cuban oysters using irradiation. *Irradiation to control vibrio infection from consumption of raw seafood and fresh produce*, 7.
- Dionísio, A. P., Gomes, R. T., & Oetterer, M. (2009). Ionizing radiation effects on food vitamins: a review. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 52(5), 1267-1278.
- Duan, J., & Su, Y. C. (2005). Occurrence of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Two Oregon Oyster-growing Bays. *Journal of food science*, 70(1).
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (2015). An Overview of Recently Published Global Aquaculture Statistic Retrieved from <u>http://www.fao.org/fishery/statistics/en</u>.
- FAO. (2017). FAO Yearbook. Fishery and Aquaculture Statitics 2015. In (pp. 107).
- US Food Drug Administration. (2005). *Quantitative risk assessment on the public health impact of pathogenic Vibrio parahaemolyticus in raw oysters.*

- Food Drug Administration. (2011). *Fish and fishery products hazards and controls guidance*: US Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition.
- US Food Drug Administration. (2015). *National shellfish sanitation program* (*NSSP*), *Guide for the control of molluscan shellfish* Retrieved from <u>https://www.fda.gov/downloads/Food/GuidanceRegulation/FederalStateFo</u> odPrograms/UCM505093.pdf.
- Fujino, T., Okuno, Y., Nakada, D., Aoyama, A., Fukai, K., Mukai, T., & Ueho, T. (1953). On the bacteriological examination of shirasu-food poisoning. *Medical Journal of Osaka University*, 4(2/3), 299-304.
- Gooch, J., DePaola, A., Bowers, J., & Marshall, D. (2002). Growth and survival of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in postharvest American oysters. *Journal of Food Protection*, 65(6), 970-974.
- Gooch, J., DePaola, A., Kaysner, C., & Marshall, D. (2001). Evaluation of two direct plating methods using nonradioactive probes for enumeration of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 67(2), 721-724.
- Goyal, S. M., & Nelson, M. D. (1984). Viral pollution of the marine environment. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Control*, 14(1), 1-32.
- Greenberg, E., Duboise, M., & Palhof, B. (1982). The survival of marine vibrios in Mercenaria mercenaria, the hardshell clam. *Journal of Food Safety*, *4*(2), 113-123.
- Hara-Kudo, Y., Nishina, T., Nakagawa, H., Konuma, H., Hasegawa, J., & Kumagai, S. (2001). Improved method for detection of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in seafood. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 67(12), 5819-5823.
- Haure, J., Huvet, A., Palvadeau, H., Nourry, M., Penisson, C., Martin, J., & Boudry, P. (2003). Feeding and respiratory time activities in the cupped oysters Crassostrea gigas, Crassostrea angulata and their hybrids. *Aquaculture*, 218(1), 539-551.

- Heffernan, W. P., & Cabelli, V. J. (1970). Elimination of bacteria by the northern quahaug (Mercenaria mercenaria): environmental parameters significant to the process. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 27(9), 1569-1577.
- Heinitz, M. L., Ruble, R. D., Wagner, D. E., & Tatini, S. R. (2000). Incidence of Salmonella in fish and seafood. *Journal of Food Protection*, 63(5), 579-592.
- Higgins, P. J. (1980). Effects of food availability on the valve movements and feeding behavior of juvenile Crassostrea virginica (Gmelin). I. Valve movements and periodic activity. *Journal of experimental marine biology and ecology*, 45(2), 229-244.
- Honda, T., Ni, Y., & Miwatani, T. (1988). Purification and characterization of a hemolysin produced by a clinical isolate of Kanagawa phenomenonnegative Vibrio parahaemolyticus and related to the thermostable direct hemolysin. *Infection and Immunity*, 56(4), 961-965.
- Hood, M., Ness, G., & Blake, N. (1983). Relationship among fecal coliforms, Escherichia coli, and Salmonella spp. in shellfish. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 45(1), 122-126.
- Iijima, Y., Asako, N. T., Aihara, M., & Hayashi, K. (2004). Improvement in the detection rate of diarrhoeagenic bacteria in human stool specimens by a rapid real-time PCR assay. *Journal of medical microbiology*, 53(7), 617-622.
- Jakabi, M., Gelli, D. S., Torre, J. C., Rodas, M. A., Franco, B. D., Destro, M. T., & Landgraf, M. (2003). Inactivation by ionizing radiation of Salmonella enteritidis, Salmonella infantis, and Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters (Crassostrea brasiliana). *Journal of Food Protection*, 66(6), 1025-1029.
- Jay, J. M., Loessner, M., & Golden, D. (2005). Modern food microbiology 7 th. In: New York, NY: Springer Since+ Business Media, LLC.
- Johnson, H. C., & Liston, J. (1973). Sensitivity of Vibrio parahaemolyticus to cold in oysters, fish fillets and crabmeat. *Journal of food science*, *38*(3), 437-441.

- Johnson, W., Salinger, A., & King, W. (1973). Survival of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oyster shellstock at two different storage temperatures. *Applied microbiology*, *26*(1), 122-123.
- Johnston, M., & Brown, M. (2002). An investigation into the changed physiological state of Vibrio bacteria as a survival mechanism in response to cold temperatures and studies on their sensitivity to heating and freezing. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *92*(6), 1066-1077.
- Joseph, S. W., Colwell, R. R., & Kaper, J. B. (1982). Vibrio parahaemolyticus and related halophilic vibrios. *CRC Critical Reviews in Microbiology*, *10*(1), 77-124.
- Kaneko, T., & Colwell, R. R. (1973). Ecology of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Chesapeake bay. *Journal of bacteriology*, *113*(1), 24-32.
- Kaysner, C. A., & DePaola, A. (2004). Bacteriological Analytical Manual:Vibrio. (U.S. Food and Drug Administration,).
- Kelly, M. T., & Dinuzzo, A. (1985). Uptake and clearance of Vibrio vulnificus from Gulf coast oysters (Crassostrea virginica). *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 50(6), 1548-1549.
- Kelly, M. T., & Stroh, E. D. (1988). Occurrence of Vibrionaceae in natural and cultivated oyster populations in the Pacific Northwest. *Diagnostic microbiology and infectious disease*, 9(1), 1-5.
- Kennedy, V. S., Newell, R. I., & Eble, A. F. (1996). *The eastern oyster: Crassostrea virginica. The eastern oyster: Crassostrea virginica:* University of Maryland Sea Grant College.
- Kim, Y. B., Okuda, J., Matsumoto, C., Takahashi, N., Hashimoto, S., & Nishibuchi, M. (1999). Identification of Vibrio parahaemolyticus strains at the species level by PCR targeted to the toxR gene. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 37(4), 1173-1177.
- Knuckey, R. M., Semmens, G. L., Mayer, R. J., & Rimmer, M. A. (2005). Development of an optimal microalgal diet for the culture of the calanoid

copepod Acartia sinjiensis: effect of algal species and feed concentration on copepod development. *Aquaculture*, 249(1), 339-351.

- Kobayashi, T., Enomoto, S., Sakazaki, R., & Kuwahara, S. (1963). A new selective isolation medium for the Vibrio group; on a modified Nakanishi's medium (TCBS agar medium). *Nihon saikingaku zasshi. Japanese journal* of bacteriology, 18, 387.
- Kodama, T. (1967). Growth of V. parahaemolyticus in foods and on food processing equipment. *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*, *2*, 35.
- Kural, A. G., Shearer, A. E., Kingsley, D. H., & Chen, H. (2008). Conditions for high pressure inactivation of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 127(1), 1-5.
- Lee, J. (1972). Inactivation of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in distilled water. *Applied microbiology*, 23(1), 166.
- Lee, J. (1973). What seafood processors should know about Vibrio parahaemolyticus. *Journal of Milk and Food Technology*, *36*(8), 405-408.
- Lee, R., Lovatelli, A., & Ababouch, L. (2008). *Bivalve depuration: fundamental and practical aspects. Bivalve depuration: fundamental and practical aspects*: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Letchumanan, V., Chan, K.-G., & Lee, L.-H. (2014). Vibrio parahaemolyticus: a review on the pathogenesis, prevalence, and advance molecular identification techniques. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *5*.
- Levine, W. C., Griffin, P. M., & Group, G. C. V. W. (1993). Vibrio infections on the Gulf Coast: results of first year of regional surveillance. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 167(2), 479-483.
- Lewis, M., Rikard, S., & Arias, C. (2010). Evaluation of a flow-through depuration system to eliminate the human pathogen Vibrio vulnificus from oysters. *Journal of Aquaculture Research & Development*, 1(2), 103.

- Lewis, M. R. (2010). Evaluation of a Flow-Through Depuration System to Eliminate the Human Pathogen Vibrio vulnificus from the Eastern Oyster (Crassostrea virginica). Auburn University,
- Liu, C., Lu, J., & Su, Y.-C. (2009). Effects of flash freezing, followed by frozen storage, on reducing Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Pacific raw oysters (Crassostrea gigas). *Journal of Food Protection*, 72(1), 174-177.
- Liu, O. C., Seraichekas, H. R., & Murphy, B. L. (1967). Viral depuration of the Northern quahaug. *Applied microbiology*, *15*(2), 307-315.
- Liu, W., Shen, X., Liu, C., & Su, Y. C. (2010). Vibrio parahaemolyticus in granulated ark shell clam (Tegillarca granosas): accumulation from water and survival during cold storage and thermal process. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 45(4), 670-675.
- Lohrenz, S. E., Fahnenstiel, G. L., Kirkpatrick, G. J., Carroll, C. L., & Kelly, K. A. (1999). Microphotometric assessment of spectral absorption and its potential application for characterization of harmful algal species. *Journal* of Phycology, 35(6), 1438-1446.
- Loosanoff, V. L. (1958). Some aspects of behavior of oysters at different temperatures. *The Biological Bulletin*, 114(1), 57-70.
- Loosanoff, V. L., & Tommers, F. (1947). Effect of low pH upon rate of water pumping of oysters, Ostrea virginica. *The Anatomical record*, *99*(4), 668-668.
- Ma, L., & Su, Y.-C. (2011). Validation of high pressure processing for inactivating Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas). *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 144(3), 469-474.
- Mahmoud, B. S. (2009). Reduction of Vibrio vulnificus in pure culture, half shell and whole shell oysters (Crassostrea virginica) by X-ray. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 130(2), 135-139.

- Mahmoud, B. S., & Burrage, D. (2009). Inactivation of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in pure culture, whole live and half shell oysters (Crassostrea virginica) by X-ray. *Letters in applied microbiology*, 48(5), 572-578.
- Martinez-Urtaza, J., Lozano-Leon, A., Varela-Pet, J., Trinanes, J., Pazos, Y., & Garcia-Martin, O. (2008). Environmental determinants of the occurrence and distribution of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in the rias of Galicia, Spain. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 74(1), 265-274.
- McLaughlin, J. B., DePaola, A., Bopp, C. A., Martinek, K. A., Napolilli, N. P., Allison, C. G., Murray, S. L., Thompson, E. C., Bird, M. M., & Middaugh, J. P. (2005). Outbreak of Vibrio parahaemolyticus gastroenteritis associated with Alaskan oysters. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 353(14), 1463-1470.
- Ming, Z., Su, Y.-C., DeWitt, C., M., & Waite-Cusic, J. (2017). Flow rate of depuration system has minimal impact on Vibrio parahaemolyticus decontamination in Pacific Oysters (Crassostrea gigas). Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Molenda, J. R., Johnson, W. G., Fishbein, M., Wentz, B., Mehlman, I. J., & Dadisman, T. A. (1972). Vibrio parahaemolyticus gastroenteritis in Maryland: laboratory aspects. *Applied microbiology*, 24(3), 444-448.
- Molitoris, E., Joseph, S., Krichevsky, M., Sindhuhardja, W., & Colwell, R. (1985). Characterization and distribution of Vibrio alginolyticus and Vibrio parahaemolyticus isolated in Indonesia. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 50(6), 1388-1394.
- N. A. Daniels, B. R., A. Easton, N. Marano, E. Kahn, A. L. McShan, 2nd, L. Del Rosario, T. Baldwin, M. A. Kingsley, N. D. Puhr, Wells J.G., Angulo FJ. (2000). Emergence of a new Vibrio parahaemolyticus serotype in raw oysters: A prevention quandary. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 1541-1545.
- Natarajan, R., Abraham, M., & Balakrish Nair, G. (1980). Vibrio parahaemolyticus and the seafood industry. *Fishery Technology*, 17(1), 1-6.

- Newton, A. E., Garrett, N., Stroika, S. G., Halpin, J. L., Turnsek, M., & Mody, R. K. (2014). Notes from the field: increase in Vibrio parahaemolyticus infections associated with consumption of atlantic coast shellfish-2013. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep, 63*, 335-336.
- Nishibuchi, M., & Kaper, J. B. (1995). Thermostable direct hemolysin gene of Vibrio parahaemolyticus: a virulence gene acquired by a marine bacterium. *Infection and Immunity*, *63*(6), 2093.
- Nolan, C. M., Ballard, J., Kaysner, C. A., Lilja, J. L., Williams, L. P., & Tenover, F. C. (1984). Vibrio parahaemolyticus gastroenteritis: an outbreak associated with raw oysters in the Pacific Northwest. *Diagnostic microbiology and infectious disease*, 2(2), 119-128.
- Okuda, J., Ishibashi, M., Hayakawa, E., Nishino, T., Takeda, Y., Mukhopadhyay,
 A. K., Garg, S., Bhattacharya, S., Nair, G. B., & Nishibuchi, M. (1997).
 Emergence of a unique O3: K6 clone of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in
 Calcutta, India, and isolation of strains from the same clonal group from
 Southeast Asian travelers arriving in Japan. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 35(12), 3150-3155.
- Parveen, S., Hettiarachchi, K. A., Bowers, J. C., Jones, J. L., Tamplin, M. L., McKay, R., Beatty, W., Brohawn, K., DaSilva, L. V., & DePaola, A. (2008). Seasonal distribution of total and pathogenic Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Chesapeake Bay oysters and waters. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 128(2), 354-361.
- Parveen, S., Jahncke, M., Elmahdi, S., Crocker, H., Bowers, J., White, C., Gray, S., Morris, A. C., & Brohawn, K. (2017). High Salinity Relaying to Reduce Vibrio parahaemolyticus and Vibrio vulnificus in Chesapeake Bay Oysters (Crassostrea virginica). *Journal of food science*, 82(2), 484-491.
- Phuvasate, S., Chen, M.-H., & Su, Y.-C. (2012). Reductions of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas) by depuration at various temperatures. *Food microbiology*, *31*(1), 51-56.
- Phuvasate, S., & Su, Y.-C. (2013). Impact of water salinity and types of oysters on depuration for reducing Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas). *Food Control*, 32(2), 569-573.

- Phuvsate, S., & Su, Y.-C. (2012). Vibrio parahaemolyticus. In Y.-C. Su (Ed.), *Pathogenic Vibrios and Food Safety* (pp. p.53-54).
- Presnell, M., Cummins, J., & Miescier, J. (1969). Influence of selected environmental factors on the elimination of bacteria by the Eastern oyster, Crassostrea virginica. *RJ Hammerstrom and WF Hill, Jr., leds. I*, 47.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, & N. M. F. Service. (2016). *Fisheries of the United States* 2015 Silver Spring, MD Retrieved from <u>https://www.st.nmfs.noaa.gov/Assets/commercial/fus/fus15/documents/F</u> <u>US2015.pdf</u>.
- Qadri, F., Shamsul Alam, M., Nishibuchi, M., Rahman, T., Alam, N. H., Chisti, J., Kondo, S., Sugiyama, J., Bhuiyan, N. A., & Mathan, M. M. (2003). Adaptive and inflammatory immune responses in patients infected with strains of Vibrio parahaemolyticus. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 187(7), 1085-1096.
- Reilly, A., & Käferstein, F. (1997). Food safety hazards and the application of the principles of the hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) system for their control in aquaculture production. *Aquaculture research*, 28(10), 735-752.
- Richards, G. P. (1988). Microbial purification of shellfish: a review of depuration and relaying. *Journal of Food Protection*®, *51*(3), 218-251.
- Riisgård, H. U. (1988). Efficiency of particle retention and filtration rate in 6 species of Northeast American bivalves. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 217-223.
- Rikard, F. S., & Walton, W. C. (2012). Use of Microalgae Concentrates for Rearing Oyster Larvae, Crassostrea virginica. In *Mississippi–Alabama Sea Grant Publication No.: MASGP-12-048*.
- Rodrigues, L. H. R., Raya-Rodriguez, M. T., & Fontoura, N. F. (2011). Algal density assessed by spectrophotometry: A calibration curve for the unicellular algae Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata. *Journal of Environmental Chemistry and Ecotoxicology*, 3(8), 225-228.

- Rowse, A. J., & Fleet, G. H. (1984). Effects of water temperature and salinity on elimination of Salmonella charity and Escherichia coli from Sydney rock oysters (Crassostrea commercialis). *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 48(5), 1061-1063.
- Santos-Ballardo, D. U., Rossi, S., Hernández, V., Gómez, R. V., del Carmen Rendón-Unceta, M., Caro-Corrales, J., & Valdez-Ortiz, A. (2015). A simple spectrophotometric method for biomass measurement of important microalgae species in aquaculture. *Aquaculture*, 448, 87-92.
- Shen, X., Cai, Y., Liu, C., Liu, W., Hui, Y., & Su, Y.-C. (2009). Effect of temperature on uptake and survival of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in oysters (Crassostrea plicatula). *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 136(1), 129-132.
- Shirai, H., Ito, H., Hirayama, T., Nakamoto, Y., Nakabayashi, N., Kumagai, K., Takeda, Y., & Nishibuchi, M. (1990). Molecular epidemiologic evidence for association of thermostable direct hemolysin (TDH) and TDH-related hemolysin of Vibrio parahaemolyticus with gastroenteritis. *Infection and Immunity*, 58(11), 3568-3573.
- Sobsey, M., Davis, A., & Rullman, V. (1987). *Persistence of hepatitis A virus and other viruses in depurated Eastern oysters*. Paper presented at the OCEANS'87.
- Son, N. T., & Fleet, G. H. (1980). Behavior of pathogenic bacteria in the oyster, Crassostrea commercialis, during depuration, re-laying, and storage. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 40(6), 994-1002.
- Su, Y.-C. (2012). Pathogenic Vibrios and Food Safety. Pathogenic Vibrios and Food Safety. New York: Nova Science Pulishers, Inc.
- Su, Y.-C., & Liu, C. (2007). Vibrio parahaemolyticus: a concern of seafood safety. *Food microbiology*, 24(6), 549-558.
- Su, Y.-C., Yang, Q., & Hase, C. (2010). Refrigerated seawater depuration for reducing Vibrio parahaemolyticus contamination in Pacific oyster (Crassostrea gigas). *Journal of Food Protection*, 73(6), 1111-1115.

- Sunnotel, O., Snelling, W., McDonough, N., Browne, L., Moore, J., Dooley, J., & Lowery, C. (2007). Effectiveness of standard UV depuration at inactivating Cryptosporidium parvum recovered from spiked Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas). *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 73(16), 5083-5087.
- T. Fujino. (1964). From Pasteurella parahaemolytica to Vibrio parahaemolyticus. p. 13-17. Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Tokyo, Japan.
- Tamplin, M. L., & Capers, G. (1992). Persistence of Vibrio vulnificus in tissues of Gulf Coast oysters, Crassostrea virginica, exposed to seawater disinfected with UV light. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 58(5), 1506-1510.
- Tuyet, D. T., Thiem, V. D., Von Seidlein, L., Chowdhury, A., Park, E., Canh, D. G., Chien, B. T., Van Tung, T., Naficy, A., & Rao, M. R. (2002). Clinical, epidemiological, and socioeconomic analysis of an outbreak of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in Khanh Hoa Province, Vietnam. *The Journal of infectious diseases*, 186(11), 1615-1620.
- Vasconcelos, G., & Lee, J. (1972). Microbial flora of Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas) subjected to ultraviolet-irradiated seawater. *Applied microbiology*, 23(1), 11-16.
- Ward, L. N., & Bej, A. K. (2006). Detection of Vibrio parahaemolyticus in shellfish by use of multiplexed real-time PCR with TaqMan fluorescent probes. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 72(3), 2031-2042.
- Whitaker, W. B., Parent, M. A., Naughton, L. M., Richards, G. P., Blumerman, S. L., & Boyd, E. F. (2010). Modulation of responses of Vibrio parahaemolyticus O3: K6 to pH and temperature stresses by growth at different salt concentrations. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 76(14), 4720-4729.
- Wilson-Ormond, E., Powell, E., & Ray, S. (1997). Short-Term and Small-Scale Variation in Food Availability to Natural Oyster Populations: Food, Flow and Flux. *Marine Ecology*, 18(1), 1-34.

- Wu, Y., Wen, J., Ma, Y., Ma, X., & Chen, Y. (2014). Epidemiology of foodborne disease outbreaks caused by Vibrio parahaemolyticus, China, 2003–2008. *Food Control*, 46, 197-202.
- Zu Ermgassen, P. S., Spalding, M. D., Grizzle, R. E., & Brumbaugh, R. D.
 (2013). Quantifying the loss of a marine ecosystem service: filtration by the eastern oyster in US estuaries. *Estuaries and coasts*, *36*(1), 36-43.

Appendices



Appendix A. Survivors (log MPN/g) of *V. parahaemolyticus* in laboratory-contaminated individual oysters during depuration with flow rate of 20 L/min for up to 5 days.

Markers indicate *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in individual oysters (n = 5 per time point).



Appendix B. Survivors (log MPN/g) of V. parahaemolyticus in laboratorycontaminated individual oysters during depuration with flow rate of 25 L/min for up to 5 days.

Markers indicate *V. parahaemolyticus* levels in individual oysters (n = 5 per time point).



Appendix C. Survivors (log MPN/g) of V. parahaemolyticus in laboratory-contaminated individual oysters during depuration with flow rate of 35 L/min for up to 5 days.

Markers indicate V. *parahaemolyticus* levels in individual oysters (n = 5 per time point).